# CHARACTERIZATION OF THE ONTHOPHAGUS NIGRIVENTRIS

## INSULIN RECEPTOR

By

# LAURA LISA HAHN

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN ENTOMOLOGY

WASHINGTON STATE UNIVERSITY Department of Entomology

MAY 2010

To the Faculty of Washington State University: The members of the Committee appointed to examine the thesis of LAURA L. HAHN find it satisfactory and recommend that it be accepted.

Laura S. Lavine, Ph.D., Chair

Stephen F. Garczynski, Ph.D.

Buel D. Rodgers, Ph.D.

# Acknowledgement

I would like to first of all thank my advisor, Dr. Laura Lavine, for providing the opportunity and assistance needed to obtain my degree. I would like to thank Dr. Stephen Garczynski for allowing me to work in his lab and for the time spent helping me troubleshoot my project. Last, I would like to thank Dr. Dan Rodgers for advice given about my project, difficult decisions, and the future.

### CHARACTERIZATION OF THE ONTHOPHAGUS NIGRIVENTRIS

#### **INSULIN RECEPTOR**

Abstract

by Laura Lisa Hahn, M.S. Washington State University May 2010

Chair: Laura S. Lavine

Coordinating body size and trait size is an important aspect of animal development. The body size of an individual is determined by genetic and environmental factors. Nutrition is the most important environmental cue. Organisms need a way to communicate their nutritional condition to each cell in their body in order to attain the correct body size, and thus trait size. The insulin signaling pathway is one mechanism for accomplishing this. Beetle horn size is a trait that is highly dependent on larval access to nutrition. There is a link between overall body size and amount of horn growth. The insulin signaling pathway has been suggested as a mechanism for coordinating horn size with body size in scarab beetles. As a first step to determine the extent to which the insulin signaling pathway plays a role in beetle horn growth, the insulin receptor transcript was cloned from a horned scarab beetle, *Onthophagus nigriventris*. In addition, the expression of this transcript during the late prepupal period was determined in different imaginal tissues and in horn imaginal tissues specifically. The full length *O. nigriventris* insulin receptor transcript is highly conserved in sequence when compared to the nucleotide and amino acid sequences of insulin receptors of other species. It was found in all imaginal tissues tested

including horn, wing, leg, and genital discs of males and horn, wing and genital discs of females. Relative expression levels did not differ between the horn tissues of small male beetles and large female beetles. These results are an important contribution and first step in understanding of the role the insulin receptor, and the insulin signaling pathway, in allometric growth and horn development in scarab beetles and in the evolution of beetle horns in general.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iii
ABSTRACTiv
LIST OF TABLES ix
LIST OF FIGURESx
CHAPTER
1. INTRODUCTION1
Horned beetles
Insect and beetle horn development4
The insulin signaling pathway7
History7
Insulin, insulin-like growth factors and receptors in mammals9
Insulin-related peptides in insects
The insulin receptor in invertebrate animals14
Components of the insulin/IGF signaling pathway15
Growth19
Tissues and hormones involved in growth control
Lifespan
Reproduction
Metabolism
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS AND RESULTS

	Beetle rearing	34
	RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis for cloning and sequencing	35
	Cloning of the O. nigriventris insulin receptor transcript	35
	Annotating the sequence	37
	Phylogenetic analysis of OnInR	38
	RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis for RT-PCR and quantitative PCR	39
	RT-PCR of imaginal disc tissues	40
	Quantitative PCR	40
	Statistical analysis	41
	O. nigriventris insulin receptor transcript	42
	N-terminal region	42
	The processing site and fibronectin type III domains	43
	Transmembrane and juxtamembrane domains	47
	Tyrosine kinase domain	48
	Evolutionary relationship of OnInR to other species	48
	Distribution of OnInR transcript in imaginal discs	54
	Relative expression of OnInR mRNA in horn tissues	54
3. DIS	CUSSION	58
	Structure of the O. nigriventris insulin receptor	58
	Expression of OnInR	62
	Summary	64

BIBLIOGRAPHY
APPENDIX
A. Insulin receptor protein alignment of the L1 and L2 domains and the cysteine-rich region83
B. Insulin receptor protein alignment of the Fibronectin type III domains
C. Insulin receptor protein alignment of the transmembrane, juxtamembrane, and tyrosine kinase domains
D. Expression of the OnInR mRNA relative to 28S in the horn tissues of small males and large females

# LIST OF TABLES

1.	Degenerate and gene specific primers used to clone the OnInR	37
2.	Insulin receptors used in protein alignment	38
3.	Insulin receptors used in phylogenetic analysis	39
4.	RT-PCR primers	40
5.	Gene specific primers for qPCR	41

# LIST OF FIGURES

1.	Diagram of the insulin receptor homodimer	. 10
2.	The components of the insulin signaling pathway	. 18
3.	OnInR α subunit	.44
4	Fibronectin type III domains and processing site	.46
5.	OnInR β subunit	. 50
6.	Phylogenetic tree of the known vertebrate and invertebrate IRs	. 52
7.	Comparative IR phylogenetic tree	. 53
8.	Distribution of OnInR in late prepupal stage imaginal discs	. 54
9.	Single primer controls for RT-PCR of imaginal discs	. 56
10.	Expression of OnInR mRNA in the horn tissue	. 57

# DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my mother and father who provided both emotional and financial

support and to my husband who was there through the best and the worst of it.

#### **CHAPTER 1**

## **INTRODUCTION**

How growth, body size, and trait size are determined and coordinated are recurring themes in studies of animal development. Great strides have been made toward elucidating the answers to these questions, particularly in insect model systems such as *Drosophila melanogaster*. Genetic and environmental factors determine the body size of an individual. Animals live in changing environments and have generated plastic responses that allow for modifying the size of an individual according to environmental cues. Among the most important of these environmental cues is nutrition which influences two parameters of final adult size in many metazoans: (1) growth rate, and (2) duration of the growth period. Although the physiology of growth control in insects is different from that of mammals, the signaling pathways involved are extraordinarily conserved. Insulin/insulin-like growth factor signaling controls factors that affect growth rate (cell growth, nutrient use, cell size and body size) in insects and mammals while steroid hormones regulate transitions between life stages.

Allometry is defined as either the relationship between the size of one trait versus the size of another trait or trait size versus body size (Shingleton *et al.*, 2008). Some traits vary in direct proportion to body size. This is called static allometry. However, the expression of some morphological traits is regulated by thresholds of sensitivity to the environment (Emlen and Nijhout, 2001). Threshold traits—polyphenisms—occur as one of several different forms expressed in response to predictable environmental conditions. Allometric growth is controlled by physiological signaling mechanisms that directly respond to nutrition during development from the whole body to the cell (Shingleton *et al.*, 2008). Threshold traits provide unique

1

opportunities for studying the variation in physiological processes that regulate the development of static and plastic morphological traits (Emlen and Nijhout, 2001).

Beetle horns provide an ideal system for studying threshold traits. Beetle horn growth is highly dependent on access to nutrition during larval development. Both horn size and body size are susceptible to changes in nutrition, and this sensitivity results in a link between overall body size and amount of horn growth (Emlen et al., 2006). The dung beetle, Onthophagus *nigriventris*, is an especially relevant model to study the genetic control of polyphenism because males exhibit dimorphism in horn growth dependent upon body size (male dimorphism) and females never produce horns regardless of their body size (sexual dimorphism) (Emlen et al., 2006). Male O. nigriventris only produce horns if they reach a critical threshold weight during larval development, but once horns are produced their growth is correlated with body size (Emlen et al., 2006). Both phylogenetic and developmental evidence to date suggests that horn dimorphism involves one or several secondary mechanisms that arose after the evolution of horns (Emlen et al., 2006). The hypothesis is that once horns evolved, physiological mechanisms to shut off horn growth evolved secondarily (Emlen et al., 2006). Arguably the most important nutrition signaling pathway in animals is the insulin signaling pathway (Edgar 2006; Emlen & Allen 2004). Thus, the insulin signaling pathway is a candidate physiological signaling network for the regulation of phenotypic plasticity in beetle horn dimorphisms in both males and females. My central hypothesis is that the insulin signaling pathway, via the insulin receptor, functions in horn development in O. nigriventris male dimorphism and sexual dimorphism. My goal for this study was to characterize the O. nigriventris insulin receptor through cloning and sequencing the mRNA encoding the receptor, examine its expression pattern in horn, wing, leg, and genital

imaginal disc tissues from male and female prepupae, and to quantify relative levels of transcript in these tissues. The data from my study is a first step in providing new information to be used to test the extent to which the insulin receptor and the insulin signaling pathway is involved in horn development in beetles.

### **Horned Beetles**

Beetle horns are rigid outgrowths of the exoskeleton typically used by males in competition with other males for access to females and resources used by females (Emlen 1997; Hunt and Simmons 1997; Iguchi 1998; Moczek & Emlen, 2000; Hongo 2003). There are about 120 different families of beetles, and many of these have isolated representatives that bear some form of cuticular outgrowth (Emlen et al., 2005). However, most horned species are located within the family Scarabaeidae (Emlen et al., 2006). Recent phylogenetic analysis of 48 species from the scarab genus Onthophagus showed 25 changes in horn location and extensive variation in horn size and shape (Emlen et al., 2005). While this study is impressive in the total number of species that were compared, it is important to point out that it represents approximately 1.6% of the species in this genus (Emlen et al., 2006). Nevertheless, this variation suggests that there have been four principle axes of horn evolution: (1) physical location of the horn, (2) horn shape, (3) horn allometry—a reflection of the relative size of the horn and of the coupling of horn growth with individual variation in body size, and finally (4) the presence or absence of horn expression and the nature of dimorphism (Emlen et al., 2006). Evidence from other insect models and preliminary evidence from O. nigriventris suggests that the insulin signaling pathway is a likely candidate for the mechanisms of allometry and dimorphism in this beetle (Emlen et al., 2006).

3

#### Insect and beetle horn development

All holometabolous insects undergo complete metamorphosis during development in which they pass through a genetically specified number of larval instars until they reach a critical size during the final larval instar. At this point, the larvae begin preparations to enter a pupal stage during which they undergo metamorphosis to their adult form. Scarab beetles are holometabolous insects and after three larval instars and a pupal stage, they molt into an adult after which time their morphology is fixed.

Insect appendages form from clusters of cells called imaginal discs, which behave as autonomous units. In many insect species, these cells remain dormant for most of the larval period, and then undergo rapid proliferation after the larvae have ceased feeding during what is known as the gut purge and prepupal periods. Proliferation of imaginal discs determines the final sizes of wings, legs, antennae, mouthparts, compound eyes and genitalia in adults (Emlen and Allen, 2004). Development of insect appendages is remarkably similar to limb development in vertebrates. Both develop from regions of cells which have a self-contained identity. Genetic information directs growth of these regions of cells to specified approximate final sizes (Stern and Emlen, 1999).

Beetle horns arose as novel morphological structures. They have no obvious homolog in other arthropod structures; they exist alongside other insect appendages but are not modified from them (Emlen *et al.*, 2005; Moczek, 2009). Their development shares many similarities with the development of traditional imaginal discs, but horns appear to have arisen as new regions of epidermal tissue that at some point in scarab history began to develop like imaginal discs (Emlen *et al.*, 2006). In species where it has been studied, horns form during the larval period (Emlen *et al.*, 2006).

4

*al.*, 2006). For most metamorphic insects, the last larval instar is when the final sizes of adult body parts are determined and is likely the period when scaling of body parts to body size occurs (Emlen and Allen, 2004). Horns in *O. nigriventris* delay growth until the prepupal period. During this period larvae begin to purge their guts in preparation for metamorphosis, and these clusters of epidermal cells undergo rapid cell division forming discs of densely folded tissue that will unfurl to their full length in the pupa to form the horns (Emlen and Nijhout, 1999; Moczek and Nagy, 2005; Emlen *et al.*, 2005).

Several factors have been suggested to control the amount of growth in developing horns. First, horn development is highly dependent on larval nutrition (Moczek and Emlen, 1999; Hunt and Simmons, 2000; Karino *et al.*, 2004). Horn size and body size are sensitive to variation in nutrition resulting in a coupling of the amount of horn growth with body size, and this is reflected in tight scaling relationships between horn length and body size (Emlen *et al.*, 2006). Emlen (1994) provided evidence that horn growth was a function of nutrition and not genetics when he performed an experiment on a related species possessing differential horn expression, *Onthophagus acuminatus*, in which he tested environmental factors versus paternal inheritance. By experimentally manipulating larval food quantity he demonstrated that horn length variation in *O. acuminatus* was influenced primarily by environmental factors. In both experimental and control populations he showed that horn lengths of male progeny were a function of individual differences in body size and not of paternal horn lengths.

Second, horn growth in many scarabs is regulated by developmental 'switch' mechanisms that prevent or alter patterns of horn growth in subsets of individuals (West-Eberhard, 2003). For example, most females do not produce horns regardless of their nutritional environment or body size (sexual dimorphism). Also, males that do not attain a threshold body size often do not produce horns or produce small horns that scale very differently with body size than those of large males (male dimorphism). Mechanisms of dimorphism appear only to affect the growth of horns in horned beetle species (Emlen *et al.*, 2006).

Last, the limb-patterning pathway, a network of local gene interactions, acts within the developing disc to determine the shape and final size of the horn. Studies of *Onthophagus* taurus, focusing on dimorphic switches between horned and hornless patterns of development, identified two critical periods during the third larval stage when hormones appeared to influence the growth of horns (Emlen and Nijhout, 1999; Emlen and Nijhout, 2001; Moczek and Nijhout, 2002). These studies suggest that interactions between ecdysone and juvenile hormone (JH) control whether the growth of horn cells is permitted or suppressed. The details of these events have been described in other papers (Emlen and Nijhout, 2001; Moczek and Nijhout 2002; Emlen et al., 2005). This study focuses on the second critical period of hormone sensitivity. This is the period of horn growth. Larvae have stopped feeding and all appendages undergo rapid cell division. It is during this period that trait growth is likely to be modified by response to insulin and other circulating signals (for example, in Drosophila: Mirth et al., 2005; Shingleton et al., 2005). This is also the period when shape and size of the horn is determined by the limbpatterning pathway (Moczek and Nagy, 2005). During this time, these pathways may be altered in the horn discs of small males and females to repress horn growth (Emlen et al., 2006). A detailed description of the limb-patterning pathway can be found elsewhere (Emlen et al., 2006; Moczek and Nagy; 2005). There is evidence that insulin signaling affects some elements of the

6

limb-patterning pathway (Chen *et al.*, 1996). Other studies of insulin receptor mutants suggest an interaction between insulin, JH, and ecdysone (Tu *et al.*, 2002; Tu and Tatar, 2003).

As I have briefly described above, the insulin signaling pathway is an important pathway in development and a good candidate for regulation of dimorphism in horned beetles. In the following section, I provide an extensive review on what is known about this pathway in insects to this point, beginning with its role in growth and body size control, important signaling tissues, and interactions with other hormones. I also discuss its effects on lifespan, reproduction, and metabolism.

### **The Insulin Signaling Pathway**

Nutrition is a critical factor in an organism's existence. It is necessary for an organism to be able to assess its nutritional condition and relay this information to every cell in the body. The insulin signaling pathway evolved early in the history of life as a mechanism for accomplishing this task (Skorokhod *et al.*, 1999). First discovered in an attempt to treat diabetes, the roles of insulin and its pathway now include growth, development, metabolic homeostasis, reproduction, and lifespan.

#### History

Type 2 diabetes mellitus—the most common metabolic disorder worldwide— results from the failure of insulin to regulate carbohydrate metabolism. For this reason, insulin is one of the most well studied peptide hormones. At the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, investigators attempted to use pancreas extracts to treat diabetes mellitus in test animals which often resulted in infection and abscess formation due to impurities. In 1920, Frederick Banting, a general surgeon and teacher of anatomy and physiology at what is now known as the University of

7

Western Ontario, approached Dr. John J. R. Macleod at the University of Toronto with the idea of ligating the pancreatic duct to destroy the enzyme-secreting acinar cells before attempting to extract the secretions of the islets of Langerhans (Rosenfeld, 2002; Rendel, 2008). In May, 1921 Banting began working in MacLeod's laboratory with student assistant Charles H. Best to obtain more pure secretions from the canine pancreas in order to treat diabetes symptoms in dogs whose pancreas had been removed. In December after much difficult work, Banting and Best developed a technique for extracting secretions from bovine pancreas using 95% alcohol and successfully used the extract to lower the blood sugar of a diabetic dog (Rosenfeld, 2002). At that point Canadian biochemist James B. Collip joined the team to develop a method for purification of the extract. The first clinical trial was conducted on January 11, 1922 on a patient suffering from Type 1 diabetes. The treatment was relatively unsuccessful and the patient suffered a severe reaction caused by the impurities in the extract (Rosenfeld, 2002; Rendel, 2008). Collip further purified the extract and subsequent clinical trials were very successful. Until this point, patients suffering from juvenile diabetes had little hope of a long life (Rosenfeld, 2002; Rendel, 2008). In 1923, Banting and MacLeod were awarded the Nobel Prize for the discovery of insulin. John J. Abel of Johns Hopkins University prepared the first crystalline insulin in 1926 and Fredrick Sanger determined the molecular structure of insulin in the mid-1950s and later determined the base sequences of nucleic acids-discoveries for which he was respectively rewarded the Nobel Prize in 1958 and 1980 (Rosenfeld, 2002). In 1982, the first recombinant human insulins were synthesized by Novo and Eli Lilly and Company (Rendel, 2008).

#### Insulin, Insulin-like Growth Factors and Receptors in Mammals

In mammals, the insulin signaling pathway functions to regulate metabolism while growth regulation and differentiation is under the control of the IGF-1 regulatory axis. Some evidence suggests that these pathways may also function in the regulation of lifespan (Chistyakova, 2008). Together the insulin/IGF-1 pathways consist of multiple ligands and receptors. The insulin family in mammals consists of insulin, insulin-like growth factors (IGF) I and II and seven members of the relaxin-like peptide family which includes gene 1 (H1) relaxin, gene 2 (H2) relaxin, gene 3 (H3) relaxin, insulin-like peptides Insl 3, 4, 5, and 6 (Adham et al., 1993; Bathgate et al., 2002; Chassin et al., 1995; Conklin et al., 1999; Hudson et al., 1983, 1984; Lok et al., 2000). In humans, the active form of insulin that circulates throughout the body is a monomer composed of two chains-an A chain of 21 amino acids and a B chain of 30 amino acids that are linked by two disulfide bridges located between A7-B7 and A20-B19. There is also an intra-chain disulfide bridge between A7 and A11 (De Meyts, 2004). Receptors that can bind insulin and the IGFs are the insulin receptor (IR), IGF-1 receptor (IGF-1R), and IGF-2 receptor (IGF2R). IR and IGF1R are synthesized as single chain preproreceptors and then directed by the signal peptide to the endoplasmic reticulum for further processing (De Meyts, 2004). They are ligand activated receptor tyrosine kinases which form homodimers of two identical  $\alpha/\beta$ monomers (Figure 1) or as heterodimers with one IR monomer and one IGF-1R monomer. The IR is alternatively spliced into A and B isoforms that differ in their affinity for insulin. Both forms can bind the IGFs but with a lower affinity than insulin (Taguchi and White, 2008). The B isoform is the dominant form in insulin-responsive tissues such as the adult liver, muscle, and adipose tissue (Taguchi and White, 2008). The A isoform is dominant form in fetal tissues, adult

central nervous tissues, and hematopoietic cells (Taguchi and White, 2008). The IGF-1R binds IGF-2 and insulin but with a lower affinity than IGF-1. No function is known for the hybrid receptors (DeMeyts, 2004). It is clear from this brief summary that mammals have a complex and functionally diverse insulin/IGF signaling network.



Figure 1. Diagram of the human insulin receptor homodimer. The leucine-rich repeat regions are denoted and L1 and L2, the cysteine-rich regions as CR, the three fibronectin type III domains as FnIII-1, FnIII-2a/FnIII-2b and FnIII-3 and the insert region of FnIII-2 as ID. The transmembrane, juxtamembrane and tyrosine kinase (TKD) domains are indicated. The  $\alpha$ - $\alpha$  and  $\alpha$ - $\beta$  disulfide bonds are indicated. Modified from Mulhern *et al.*, 1998.

#### **Insulin-related peptides in insects**

In 1984, the first insect insulin-like peptide (ILP), bombyxin from the brain of the silkmoth *Bombyx mori*, was discovered. At that time the peptide did not display activity in *B. mori*, but it did stimulate the prothoracic glands (PG) of *Samia cynthia* larvae to release ecdysone which regulates molting and metamorphosis in insects. Thirty-eight bombyxins were subsequently identified in *B. mori* (Kondo *et al.*, 1996; Yoshida *et al.*, 1997, 1998), and ILPs were also identified in *Samia cynthia ricinii* (the saturniid moth; Nagata *et al.*, 1999) and *Agrius convolvuli* (the hornworm; Iwami *et al.*, 1996). All lepidopteran ILP genes except for five pseudogenes in *B. mori* have A and B peptides connected by a C peptide (Kondo *et al.*, 1996; Yoshida *et al.*, 1997, 1998). The genes coding for bombyxins lack introns unlike those of vertebrate insulins (Kondo *et al.*, 1996; Yoshida *et al.*, 1997, 1998). In Lepidopterans, the Medial Neurosecretory Cells (MNCs) are the site of synthesis for ILPs which are then stored in and released from either the corpora cardiaca (CC) and the corpora allata (CA) depending on the species. The CC are structurally and functionally analogous to the posterior pituitary of vertebrates (Wu and Brown, 2006).

The second insect ILP to be discovered was isolated from the CC of *Locusta migratoria* (the migratory locust) (Hetru *et al.*, 1995; Lagueux *et al.*, 1990). In contrast to Lepidopteran ILP genes, the locust insulin-related peptide (LIRP) gene contains introns. This gene is expressed as two transcripts differing in their 5' untranslated region (Kromer-Metzger and Lagueux, 1994). One is expressed in the MNCs of the *pars intercerebralis* while the other is expressed in nearly all tissues (Kromer-Metzger and Lagueux, 1994). Other orthopteran species have exhibited

insulin immunoreactivity although no further orthopteran ILPs have been isolated (reviewed in Wu and Brown, 2006).

Seven ILPs were indentified in *D. melanogaster* (*DILP 1-7*) through the genome database of the fly (Brogiolo *et al.*, 2001; Vanden Broeck, 2001). The first 5 of these genes are located on chromosome 3 while *DILP6 & 7* are located on the X chromosome (Brogiolo *et al.*, 2001; Vanden Broeck, 2001). Like *LIRP*, these genes all have introns (Brogiolo *et al.*, 2001; Vanden Broeck, 2001). Transcripts for the DILPs are located in the brain MNCs (DILP1, 2, 3, 5), the imaginal discs and salivary glands (DILP2), the midgut (DILP 4, 5, and 6), and the ventral nerve cord (DILP7) of larva (Brogiolo *et al.*, 2001; Broughton *et al.*, 2005). Transcripts of DILP5 were detected in the follicle cells of the ovaries of adult female flies (Ikeya *et al.*, 2002). The MNCs are the primary source of ILPs in larvae and females (Rulifson *et al.*, 2002).

Seven ILP genes, *AgamILP1-7*, were identified from the genome of the African malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*. The A and B peptides predicted from the sequences were remarkably similar to the DILPs (Krieger *et al.*, 2004; Riehle *et al.*, 2002). The distribution of transcripts for these genes suggested growth factor and neurohormonal functions (Krieger *et al.*, 2004). Eight genes encoding ILPs in the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*, have been discovered (Riehle *et al.*, 2006). All eight ILPs share the conserved features of the insulin superfamily prepropeptides. Transcripts for five of the ILPs were expressed mainly in the heads of larval, pupal, and adult mosquitoes (Riehle *et al.*, 2006). Transcripts of two other genes were present in the head, thorax and abdomens of all stages (Riehle *et al.*, 2006). The final ILP was predominantly expressed in abdomen (Riehle *et al.*, 2006).

12

There has been a small amount of evidence presented for the presence of ILPs in species from Hemiptera, Coleoptera, and Hymenoptera (Wu and Brown, 2006). Two insulin receptors and two ILPs were predicted using the honey bee genome and their expression during caste determination has been described (Wheeler *et al.*, 2006; de Azevedo and Hartfelder, 2008). A *B. mori* ILP was used to stimulate the prothoracic glands of the last instar of *Rhodnius prolixus*, a hemipteran, to secrete ecdysteriods in vitro (Steel and Vafopoulou, 1997). ILPs were detected in extracts of larval heads and midguts of the beetle, *Tenebrio molitor*, and in the brain, CA, and subesophageal ganglion of other life stages (Sevala *et al.*, 1993). An ILP that altered carbohydrate metabolism in the larval fat body in vitro was purified from the midguts of this beetle (Teller *et al.*, 1983). Four genes encoding ILPs were identified in the *Tribolium* genome (Li *et al.*, 2008).

The presence of ILP genes has also been reported in other invertebrates. There are 38 ILPs in the *C. elegans* genome and some of these have been shows to affect insulin signaling in the worm (Panowski and Dillin, 2009). Insulin-like gene 1 (*INS-1*) is the *C. elegans* gene most closely related to human insulin in sequence and structure (Panowski and Dillin, 2009). However, INS-1, unlike human insulin, seems to be an antagonist of DAF-2, the *C. elegans* homolog of the human insulin receptor (Panowski and Dillin, 2009). Other ILPs appear to function as DAF-2 agonists (Panowski and Dillin, 2009). ILPs have also been identified in molluscs (Smit *et al.*, 1998; Floyd *et al.*, 1999; Hamano *et al.*, 2005; Moroz *et al.*, 2006), and the sea anemone (Putnam *et al.*, 2007).

#### The insulin receptor in invertebrate animals

The *Drosophila* insulin receptor (DIR) is similar to mammalian insulin receptors, except that both the NH2 terminus and the COOH terminus include approximately 300 additional amino acid residues (Fernandez et al., 1995). The presence of the additional C-terminus region leads to the formation of a  $\beta$ -subunit with an extension which can undergo cell specific proteolytic cleavage to form a smaller  $\beta$ -subunit (Fernandez *et al.*, 1995). Mammalian insulin binds the DIR and stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of both types of  $\beta$ -subunits, although with slightly decreased affinity (Fernandez et al., 1995). However the DIR signaling capacity is similar to that of the human insulin receptor which suggests that the basic functions of the receptor are conserved from insects to mammals (Fernandez et al., 1995; Yamaguchi et al., 1995). The DIR tail contains three tyrosine phosphorylation sites (YXXM) which align with tyrosine phosphorylation sites on mammalian IRS-1, which allows DIR to bind directly to PI3K and activate it without associating with the Drosophila insulin receptor substrate (CHICO) (Yenush et al., 1995). When the C-terminal extension is cleaved, DIR must associate with CHICO in order to activate the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway (Fernandez et al., 1995). This association is required to produce a full insulin response (Yenush et al., 1995).

The mosquito insulin receptor (MIR) was isolated from ovarian mRNA of *A. aegypti* (Graf *et al.*, 1997). Like its vertebrate counterpart in consists of an  $\alpha$ -subunit with a ligand binding domain, a  $\beta$ -subunit with a tyrosine kinase domain, and a putative cleavage signal for post-translational processing (Graf *et al.*, 1997). The mature MIR is a 400-kDa tetrameric protein localized in the membranes of follicle cells surrounding the oocyte and nurse cells (Riehle and Brown, 2002). Levels of transcript and protein increased in ovaries during the first 24 hours after

a blood meal but then disappeared (Riehle and Brown, 2002). The MIR is not present in eggs, larvae, pupae or pharate adults (Riehle and Brown, 2002).

In the nematode *C. elegans*, DAF-2 is the single identified ortholog of the mammalian IR and IGF-1 (Kimura *et al.*, 1997). DAF-2 also has a C-terminal tail with several putative tyrosine phosphorylation sites that can directly bind to PI3K (Morris *et al.*, 1996, Wolkow *et al.*, 2002). An insulin receptor substrate ortholog called IST1 has been identified which is somewhat similar to CHICO and the mammalian insulin receptor substrate (IRS) proteins although it has only one tyrosine phosphorylation site (Wolkow *et al.*, 2002). There is no evidence that IST1 activates PI3K or is required for insulin signaling in *C. elegans* (Wolkow *et al.*, 2002).

## **Components of the Insulin/IGF Signaling Pathway**

Organisms need a way to communicate nutritional information to the entire body in order to orchestrate the growth of tissues and organs. This is done by humoral signaling through the insulin/IGF pathway, and one of the key mechanisms through which this pathway affects tissue growth by influencing translation initiation and protein synthesis is via activation of the PI3K pathway (Figure 2).

Insulin binds to the  $\alpha$ -subunits of the insulin receptor (IR) and causes a conformational change which induces autophosphorylation of specific tyrosine residues on the  $\beta$ -subunits. This phosphorylation produces a conformational change that activates the intrinsic protein tyrosine kinase activity of the receptor (reviewed in Taguchi and White, 2008). The receptor then phosphorylates tyrosine residues of many target proteins. Although each of these target proteins serves an important function, evidence suggests that insulin responses involved in somatic growth and nutrient homeostasis are mediated through IRS 1 and 2 (reviewed in Taguchi and

White, 2008). In mammals, the insulin signaling cascade interacts with many other pathways. Activation of the IR leads to induction of the GRB2 (growth-factor-receptor-bound protein 2)-SOS (Son of sevenless) complex through IRS1. In this way, Ras is activated and subsequently ERK (extracellular-signal-related kinase) (reviewed in Taguchi and White, 2008). ERK promotes transcriptional activity by directly phosphorylating ELK1 (Ets LiKe gene1) and activating p90<sup>rsk</sup> (p90 ribosomal S6 kinase) which phosphorylates FOS (v-los FBJ murine osteosarcoma viral oncogene homolog) (reviewed in Taguchi and White, 2008).

Another pathway, and one of the best studied, is the PI3K pathway (reviewed in Taguchi and White, 2008). Phosphorylated IRS proteins bind the Src homology 2 (SH2) domain of the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K, which then catalyzes the formation of phophatidylinositol-3,4,5trisphosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>) from phophatidylinositol-4,5-diphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) (reviewed in Taguchi and White, 2008). The tumor suppressor phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) is a negative regulator of the insulin signaling pathway. It is a lipid phosphatase that coverts PIP<sub>3</sub> back to PIP<sub>2</sub> by removing the 3' phosphate (reviewed in Taguchi and White, 2008). The PTEN enzyme acts as part of a chemical pathway that signals cells to stop dividing and triggers cells to self-destruct (undergo apoptosis) when necessary. These functions prevent uncontrolled cell growth that can lead to the formation of tumors (reviewed in Taguchi and White, 2008). PIP3 recruits phosphoinositide-dependent kinase (PDK-1, Akt kinase) and serine/threonine kinase protein kinase B (PKB, Akt) to the plasma membrane where PDK-1 phosphorylates and activates Akt. Akt phosphorylates Forkhead Box O 1 (FOXO1) transcription factor. FOXO1, which is involved in the regulation of gene expression, is inactivated by phosphorylation and is sequestered in the cytosol (reviewed in Taguchi and White, 2008). Akt also phosphorylates Tsc 2 of the tuberous

sclerosis complex (TSC) which inhibits Tsc 2 and leads to removal of its inhibition on a small G protein Ras Homolog Enriched in Brain (RHEB). RHEB activates the Target of Rapamycin (TOR) kinase. PDK1 phosphorylates p70<sup>S6K</sup>, priming it for activation. TOR ultimately phosphorylates and activates p70<sup>S6K</sup>, which alters gene transcription and translation. TOR also inactivates the 4E-binding protein (4E-BP) that binds and inhibits the eukaryotic initiation factor 4E (eIF4E) which allows eIF4E to participate in ribosome complex formation and translation (reviewed in Taguchi and White, 2008).



Figure 2. The components of the insulin signaling pathway. Functional relationships between components are indicated. Arrows indicate activation and bar-ended lines indicate inhibition. Details of interactions are described in the text. Modified from Taguchi and White (2008).

## Growth

Studies of the insulin signaling pathway in *Drosophila* led to the discovery of the pathway as an important component of growth regulation. Ablation of the IPCs or deletion of *DILPs1-5* results in developmental delays and reduced growth, with cells in the wings of these flies exhibiting reductions in size and number (Rulifson *et al.*, 2002; Zhang *et al.*, 2009). Overexpression of DILPs results in bigger flies owing to a DIR-dependent increase in cell size and cell number of individual organs (Brogiolo *et al.*, 2001). Loss of function mutations in the *inr* gene lead to recessive phenotypes that are embryonic or early larval lethal (Fernandez *et al.*, 1995; Chen *et al.*, 1996). Some mutant alleles exhibit heteroallelic complementation and produce viable adults that are developmentally delayed and growth deficient due to a reduction in cell number (Chen *et al.*, 1996). The DIR appears to regulate cell proliferation during development and may be required in the embryonic epidermis and nervous system because formation of the cuticle and the peripheral and central nervous systems are affected by IR mutation (Fernandez *et al.*, 1995; Chen *et al.*, 1996).

An important target of the *Drosophila* insulin signaling pathway is chico, the homologue of the mammalian insulin receptor substrate proteins (IRS). Flies lacking both copies of this gene develop to only half the size of normal flies (Bohni *et al.*, 1999). This lack of body size results from a decrease in both cell size and cell number (Bohni *et al.*, 1999). Recently, evidence has been provided that another adaptor protein may act in parallel to chico (Werz *et al.*, 2009). Lnk is the single SH2B adaptor protein encoded in the *Drosophila* genome and shares a common domain structure with the mammalian SH2B family of adaptor proteins (Werz *et al.*, 2009). Mutations in the gene encoding this protein cause phenotypes similar to those caused by

mutations in chico, including developmental delay and female sterility (Werz *et al.*, 2009). The growth deficiency phenotypes of chico and lnk mutants resembles that of DIR mutants.

Although, the IR can activate the Ras/MAPK and PI3K signaling pathways—two major branches that effect growth, proliferation and organismal size during development—through interaction with different IRS proteins, evidence from early studies in *Drosophila* strongly suggests that it is the PI3K pathway that controls growth and proliferation in this organism (Oldham *et al.*, 2002). *Drosophila* possess one class I<sub>A</sub> PI3K, dp110, bound to a phosphotyrosine-binding Src homology 2 (SH2) domain containing subunit, p60 (Weinkove *et al.*, 1997; Leevers 2001). Overexpression of wild-type or dominant-negative dp110 in either developing wing or eye imaginal discs results in larger or smaller organs respectively due to changes in cell size and cell number. However, while adult wings are patterned normally, ommatidial pattern is slightly irregular (Weinkove *et al.*, 1999).

The *Drosophila* ortholog of mammalian PTEN is dPTEN. Mutations of dPTEN in the *Drosophila* eye result in ommatidia that are larger and more abundant than wild-type ommatidia (Huang *et al.*, 1999; Gao *et al.*, 2000) Overexpression of dPTEN inhibits cell cycle progression early in mitosis and triggers apoptosis during eye development which results in eyes that are smaller than wild-type and also rough (Huang *et al.*, 1999). Overexpressing dPTEN in the wing and the whole organism results in an overall reduction in size for either the wing or the organism (Gao *et al.*, 2000). Overexpressing a dominant negative form of dp110 partially reduces this effect (Gao *et al.*, 2000).

Loss of DIR function can be rescued by increasing PIP3 levels (Oldham *et al.*, 2002). As indicated above, PIP<sub>3</sub> is the effector of multiple downstream targets of the PI3K pathway. In

*Drosophila* these targets are the homolog of phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (dPDK1) and *Drosophila* protein kinase B or dAkt —a growth factor regulated serine/threonine kinase. *Drosophila* Akt activity is abolished in flies that are null mutants of dp110 (Radimerski *et al.*, 2002). Consistent with the role of these two kinases in this growth promoting pathway, *Drosophila* embryos deficient in the dPDK-1 gene exhibit a dramatic increase in apoptotic activity and die (Cho *et al.*, 2001). In addition, co-overexpression of dAKT and dPDK1 in the *Drosophila* eye led to a size increase in the eye that is cell-autonomous (Rintelen *et al.*, 2001).

Inside the cell there are critical transcriptional regulatory factors that respond to molecular cues induced by ligand/receptor interactions, which are translated into changes in gene expression and mRNA production. One such transcription factor is *Drosophila* forkhead transcription factor (dFOXO), which is inhibited by insulin signaling typically resulting from high nutrient availability (Junger *et al.*, 2003; Puig *et al.*, 2003; Kramer *et al.*, 2003; Kramer *et al.*, 2008). When nutrients are abundant insulin is secreted and activates the IR which in turn leads to the phosphorylation of dFOXO through dAkt. Phosphorylated dFOXO remains in the cytoplasm of the cell and is unable to activate its nuclear target genes. When nutrients decrease, insulin levels decrease and dFOXO is dephosphorylated and moves into the nucleus where its target genes—genes implicated in growth inhibition—become activated. One such gene is the *Drosophila* homolog of 4E-BP (d4E-BP) (Puig and Tjian, 2006). Insulin receptor is also a target gene for dFOXO regulation, revealing a novel feedback mechanism in the insulin signaling pathway (Puig *et al.*, 2003).

There is an intricate connection between the insulin signaling pathway and the Target of Rapamycin pathway (TOR) (Wu and Brown, 2006). *Drosophila* possess one TOR homolog,

dTOR. *Drosophila* mutant for TOR have severe growth defects, reductions in larval body size and imaginal discs, and die during the second instar (Oldham *et al.*, 2000; Zhang *et al.*, 2000). Imaginal disc cells mutant for TOR are smaller than wild-type cells and proliferate more slowly, and the phenotype of partial TOR mutation is the same as that caused by withdrawal of amino acids (Zhang *et al.*, 2000). This indicates that TOR regulates cell growth and proliferation autonomously by sensing nutrient levels.

Mutation of TSC1 and TSC2 in *Drosophila* causes increased growth and cell size while co-overexpression causes a decrease in cell size, cell number, and organ size (Potter *et al.*, 2001; Tapon *et al.*, 2001). It has recently been shown that mutations in Tsc1 result in increased FOXO levels and elevated expression of FOXO-regulated genes, some of which antagonize growthpromoting pathways (Harvey *et al.*, 2008). DAkt regulates growth by directly phosphorylating TSC2 and disrupting the subcellular colocalization of TSC1 and TSC2 (Potter *et al.*, 2002). As in mammals, TSC1 and TSC2 in *Drosophila* form an active complex that suppresses the functioning of dRheb. *Drosophila* Rheb—a highly conserved member of the Ras superfamily of G-proteins that promotes cell growth—functions downstream of TSC 1/2, and its overexpression causes activation of this pathway, leading to increased cell proliferation (Garami *et al.*, 2003; Zhang *et al.*, 2003). Mutation of *dRheb* results in growth defects similar to phenotypes caused by mutation of *chico* (Saucedo *et al.*, 2003; Stocker *et al.*, 2003 Zhang *et al.*, 2003).

DTOR may influence translation through *Drosophila* S6K (DS6K) and D4E-BP. TOR is required for growth factor-dependent phosphorylation of S6K (Schmelzle and Hall, 2000). The activity and phosphorylation of DS6K is reduced in larvae that have been deprived of amino acids, are mutant for dTOR, or that have been fed rapamycin (Oldham *et al.*, 2000; Radimerski *et* 

*al.*, 2002). Overexpression of DS6K can partially rescue reduced larval growth resulting from DTOR hypomorphic mutations (Zhang *et al.*, 2000). Though the size of cells in dS6K mutant flies is reduced, the number of cells in these flies is normal. Through response to growth factors and nutrient sensing, S6K provides a mechanism by which individual cells can coordinate their response to growth factors with nutrient availability (Zhang *et al.*, 2003).

*Drosophila* eIF4E (deIF4E) is the homolog of mammalian eIF4E. In *Drosophila* cells, association of deIF4E with d4E-BP is inhibited by insulin stimulated phosphorylation of d4E-BP (Miron *et al.*, 2001). Insulin inhibition is removed by treatment with rapamycin (Miron *et al.*, 2001). Strong loss-of-function mutations in deIF4E reduced larval growth and result in larval death (Lachance *et al.*, 2002). However loss of d4E-BP does not appear to be sufficient to increase growth (Miron *et al.*, 2001).

As the preceding review has shown, loss-of-function mutations, or over-expression, of various components of the insulin signaling pathway in flies give rise to altered organ size due to changes in cell size, cell number, or both (Gao *et al.*, 2000; Junger *et al.*, 2003; Miron *et al.*, 2001; Puig *et al.*, 2003; Verdu *et al.*, 1999). Cell proliferation requires high levels of protein synthesis, and this process is regulated by the insulin pathway in both vertebrates and insects (Weinkove and Leevers, 2000; Ikeya *et al.*, 2002; Johnston and Gallant, 2002; Nijhout and Grunert, 2003). In insects, insulin-like peptides, likely in cooperation with growth factors, bind to the insulin receptor and activate a cascade that controls the activity of protein translation machinery (Weinkove and Leevers, 2000; Claeys *et al.*, 2002). Organisms adjust their rate of growth depending on nutrient availability (Puig and Tjian, 2006). Based on this evidence it was concluded that the insulin pathway is an ideal candidate for the developmental mechanism of

horn development in phenotypically plastic scarab beetles because levels of both insulin and growth factor signals are sensitive to larval nutrition (Kawamura *et al.*, 1999; Britton *et al.*, 2002; Ikeya *et al.*, 2002; Nijhout and Grunert, 2003; Emlen and Allen 2004).

## Tissues and hormones involved in growth control

How insects respond to variation in their nutritional environment and the hormones and tissues involved have been recently reviewed by Edgar, 2006 and Hietakangas and Cohen, 2009 so I will briefly summarize these interactions with the addition of important findings since these reviews were published.

Insulin producing cells (IPCs) are the prominent DILP expressing neuroendocrine cells of the brain (Brogiolo *et al.*, 2001; Rulifson *et al.*, 2002). These cells, along with the adipokinetic hormone (AKH)-producing cells (APCs) in the corpora cardiaca, are considered analogous to  $\beta$  and  $\alpha$  cells respectively of the pancreas—the site of vertebrate insulin production (Géminard *et al.*, 2009). Changes in nutrient levels are sensed by the insect fat body, an organ that is functionally related to the vertebrate liver and adipose tissue (Colombani *et al.*, 2003). Recent evidence has revealed that amino acid shortage blocks signaling of the TOR pathway in the fat body, which prevents ILP secretion (Géminard *et al.*, 2009). Ex vivo tissue co-culture demonstrated that a humoral link exists between the fat body and the brain which controls ILP secretion in *Drosophila* (Géminard *et al.*, 2009).

Insulin signaling in *Drosophila* is controlled, at least partially, by a nucleostemin family GTPase, NS3, which acts in serotonergic neurons that are in close proximity to the IPCs (Kaplan *et al.*, 2008). Flies mutant for NS3 display delayed development and reduced body size. Delayed growth is associated with reduced peripheral insulin signaling and can be restored by promoting

PI3K/ Akt signaling in target tissues (Kaplan *et al.*, 2008). It is not yet known whether the IPCs or these serotonergic neurons are the target of the factor secreted by the fat body (Géminard *et al.*, 2009). Also, *Drosophila* short neuropeptide F 1 (sNPF1) and sNPF2, homologues of mammalian neuropeptide Y (NPY), regulate expression of DILP transcripts through activation of extracellular signal-related kinases (ERK) in IPCs of larvae and adults (Lee *et al.*, 2008; Lee *et al.*, 2009). Increased signaling through the sNPFR in the MNCs promoted expression of DILPs 1 and 2 and increased body size. Reduction of signaling through this receptor leads to reduced production of ILPs and reduced peripheral AKT activity (Lee *et al.*, 2008). This mechanism appears to be conserved since insulin expression in rat insulinoma cells is under control of NPY and increased signaling through this peptide activates the MAPK/ERK pathway which is needed for insulin expression mediated by this peptide.

In another study it was found that altering the activity of genes of the protein kinase A pathway within the IPCs altered insulin signaling, a situation very much like the transcription activation of the mammalian insulin gene and the IRS by PKA and is downstream transcription factor Creb (Walkiewicz and Stern, 2009). When DILPs are released, *Drosophila* acid-labile subunit (dALS), the fly ortholog of the vertebrate insulin-like growth factor-binding protein (IGFBP) ALS, forms a complex with circulating DILPs. The complex consists of one molecule dALS, one molecule DILP, and one molecule of Imaginal morphogenesis protein-Late 2 (Imp-L2), an immunoglobulin G-family molecule evolutionarily related to IGFBPs (Arquier *et al.,* 2008). These complexes serve to antagonize the growth function of DILPs and also their carbohydrate and fat metabolism function by limiting the availability of DILPs (Arquier *et al.,* 2008). *Drosophila* ALS could be a candidate for the humoral signal released by the fat body
since it is expressed mainly in the fat body and regulated by amino acid availability (Colombani *et al.*, 2003).

Nutrition has an intense effect on developmental timing in *Drosophila* (Layalle *et al.*, 2008) and it seems that the signaling mechanisms involved in nutrient sensing must interact with the mechanisms that control developmental timing. A key regulator of developmental timing is ecdysone, a steroid hormone secreted by the PG (Nijhout, 2008). Body size is assessed from the relative growth of the PG. A peak of 20-hydroxyecdysone at the end of the last larval instar causes larvae to stop feeding and growing and begin metamorphosis (Nijhout, 2008). The mechanism that controls the timing of this pulse controls developmental timing and final adult body size (Nijhout, 2008) and to date, four mechanisms underlying this are known (Nijhout, 2008). In *Rhodnius*, *Dipetalogaster*, and *Oncopeltus*, feeding causes abdominal stretch reception which prompts ecdysone secretion and therefore growth stops at a constant body size (Nijhout, 2008). In Manduca, the terminal growth period between critical size and ecdysone secretion is constant (Nijhout et al., 2006). How much the animal grows during this period is dependent upon nutrition. In *Drosophila*, the length of the terminal growth period is dependent on nutrition which is sensed by the PTG through TOR (Layalle et al., 2008). Low nutrition reduces ecdysone production (Layalle et al., 2008). TOR only affects development during the TGP. In Onthophagus, ecdysone is secreted 48 hours after the larva's food supply is exhausted (Shafiei et al., 2001).

Imaginal discs are also a regulator of critical size in *Drosophila* (Stieper *et al.*, 2008). Damage to, or slow growth of, the imaginal discs impedes metamorphosis by increasing critical

26

size and extending the TGP. This does not change final adult body size, however (Stieper *et al.*, 2008).

Critical weight is defined as the size at which the PGs produce enough ecdysone to maintain growth and patterning in imaginal tissues in the absence of nutrition (Mirth and Riddiford, 2007). Critical weight depends on insulin dependent growth of the PTG (Colombani *et al.*, 2005; Mirth *et al.*, 2005). Enhancing insulin signaling in the IPCs increases the expression of an ecdysone response gene, *E74B* (Walkiewicz and Stern, 2009). Recent evidence indicates that ecdysone mediates the switch of imaginal discs to a post-critical weight, nutritionindependent mode of development through the derepression of genes repressed by unliganded ecdysone receptor (Mirth *et al.*, 2009). In *Manduca*, the imaginal discs and primordia become pupally committed during the first day of the feeding stage of the final larval instar and require nutrient input (Koyama *et al.*, 2009). Insulin signaling regulates this change in commitment by overriding the effects of JH which prevents changes earlier instars (Koyama *et al.*, 2009). Bombyxin stimulates cell proliferation in the wing discs of lepidopteran larvae (Nijhout *et al.*, 2007).

Levels of JH and ecdysone are sensitive to larval nutrition (Tu and Tatar, 2003). JH is produced by the CA in growing larvae and suppresses 20-hydroxyecdysone levels by inhibiting PTTH release (Tu and Tatar, 2003). When larvae achieve critical weight, JH esterase is produced by the fat body and other organs and degrades JH. PTTH is released and signals the PG to produce ecdysone production (which suppresses growth, ends feeding and causes metamorphosis) (Tu and Tatar, 2003).

27

The interaction between tissues and hormones in the regulation of growth is extremely complex. Knowledge of how nutrition is coupled with the growth of a novel trait could provide valuable clues as to how organisms develop and evolve phenotypically plastic traits in response to environmental variation as in the case of beetle horn dimorphisms.

# Life Span

The insulin signaling pathway is the most thoroughly studied pathway that affects aging in *C. elegans*, and it shares many homologues with the vertebrate pathway (Wolff and Dillin, 2006). DAF-2 signals through AGE-1—a conserved homologue of the catalytic subunit p110 of PI3K—, which activates PDK-1 and Akt-1/Akt-2/SGK-1 through conversion of PIP2 to PIP3 (Wolff and Dillin, 2006). Mutations in *daf-2* and *age-1* significantly extend the life span of *C*. elegans (Panowski and Dillin, 2009). Akt1, 2 and SGK-1 phosphorylate the C. elegans ortholog of mammalian FOXO transcription factors, DAF-16 (Wolff and Dillin, 2006). This pathway is inactivated through the C. elegans ortholog of PTEN, DAF-18 (Wolff and Dillin, 2006). Null mutations of daf-16 reversed the extended life span phenotypes caused by daf-2 and age-1 mutations (Christyakova, 2008). Constitutive nuclear localization of DAF-16 is not sufficient to extend life span and other regulators are also required for full IIS-regulated longevity. However nearly all daf-2 mutant phenotypes are dependent on DAF-16. Many genes regulated in daf-2 mutant worms in a daf-16-dependent manner play a part in stress resistance. Many of these target genes affect life span, and knockdown of these target genes by RNAi shortens the life span of daf-2 mutants (Panowski and Dillin, 2009).

As mentioned above, *C. elegans* ILPs function as both agonists and antagonists of DAF-2. Overexpression of INS-1 results in reduced signaling through DAF-2 and an increased life span in wild-type worms (Pierce *et al.*, 2001). ILPs known to function as agonists of DAF-2 are DAF-28 and INS-7 (Panowski and Dillin, 2009). Loss of function of either of these genes results in extended life span and nuclear localization of DAF-16 (Panowski and Dillin, 2009).

Evidence suggests that there are particular tissues that regulate longevity in relation to insulin signaling (Panowski and Dillin, 2009). The effects of *age-1* mutation are reversed by expression of age-1 in the neurons or intestine (Iser *et al.*, 2007; Wolkow *et al.*, 2000). Loss of daf-2 function in a subset of neurons resulted in extended life span (Panowski and Dillin, 2009). Expression of daf-16 in the intestine of daf-2;daf-16 double mutants and in the intestine and neurons of age-1;daf-16 double mutants restored life span extension (Iser *et al.*, 2007; Libina *et al.*, 2003). These results indicate that the intestine is a key tissue in extending life span. This tissue serves as the adiopocyte tissue of *C. elegans* and is the primary place of fat accumulation. It is interesting to note that fat-specific insulin receptor knock-out (FIRKO) mice are also long-lived (Kimura *et al.*, 1997).

Diet has an effect on life span (Taguchi and White, 2008) and recent evidence indicates that a low-sugar diet may be the key to extending life span in higher organisms (Lee *et al.*, 2009). Feeding glucose to wild-type *C. elegans* reduced life span in these animals by inhibiting DAF-16 and a cooperating heat shock factor, HSF-1. The gene responsible for this effect is the aquaporin gene aqp-1 which encodes a glycerol channel (Lee *et al.*, 2009). Insulin downregulates gene expression of similar aquaporin glycerol channels in mammals (Lee *et al.*, 2009).

Knockdown of the *dir* gene is fatal indicating that insulin signaling is essential in *Drosophila* (Fernandez *et al.*, 1995; Chen *et al.*, 1996). Life span in flies mutant for DIR or chico is significantly extended (Clancy *et al.*, 2001; Tatar *et al.*, 2001). Treatment with methoprene, a

juvenile hormone analog, of DIR mutant flies restored normal life span (Tatar *et al.*, 2001). Over-expression of dFOXO in the pericerebral fat bodies of adult flies and in the fat body reduced the expression of ILPs in neurons and extended the life span of female flies (Hwangbo *et al.*, 2004; Giannakou *et al.*, 2004).

There is evidence that insulin action is responsible for deterioration of heart function in older flies (Wessells *et al.*, 2004). Flies in which insulin signaling had been reduced exhibited nominal heart degeneration over the course of their lives and had a prolonged life span (Wessells *et al.*, 2004). Suppression of insulin signaling in the heart itself eliminated deterioration of heart function but life span was normal (Wessells *et al.*, 2004).

Age-related locomotor impairment (ARLI) is of particular concern in aging humans (Jones *et al.*, 2009). Recent evidence from *Drosophila* indicates that disruption of PDK1, dp110 and Akt leads to delayed development of ARLI and points to insulin signaling as a key regulator of age-related decline in *Drosophila* (Jones *et al.*, 2009). Eliminating germ cells (GCs) late in development or in the adult fly leads to increased life span and affects insulin signaling (Flatt *et al.*, 2008). Flies exhibit increased production of DILPs and hypoglycemia; however, dFOXO target genes such as d4E-BP, l(2)efl, and IMP-L2 are upregulated (Flatt *et al.*, 2008).

#### Reproduction

Mosquitoes are effective vectors of pathogens because of repeated cycles of blood ingestion and egg development by females (Roy *et al.*, 2007). In some female mosquitoes the reproductive cycle is triggered by the ingestion of a blood meal from vertebrate host (Roy *et al.*, 2007). Feeding stimulates release of neuropeptides from the brain MNCs of female *A. aegypti*, which induce the ovaries to produce ecdysteriod hormones (Brown *et al.*, 1998). Both porcine and bovine insulin activate ecdysteriod production by the ovaries in vitro (Graf *et al.*, 1997, Brown *et al.*, 1998). Inhibitors of the IR and PI3K blocked this stimulation (Riehle and Brown, 1999). One of the ILPs (ILP3) was synthesized and shown to stimulate yolk uptake by oocytes and ecdysteriod production by the ovaries at significantly lower concentrations than bovine insulin (Brown *et al.*, 2008).

In addition to being located in the ovaries (Graf *et al.*, 1997; Riehle and Brown, 2003), the IR and PKB/Akt have also been detected in the fat body of adult female yellow fever mosquitoes, *A. aegypti* (Roy *et al.*, 2007). Evidence suggests that insulin in conjunction with 20hydroxyecdysone from the ovaries of the female mosquito and amino acid signaling through TOR and S6K stimulate the fat body to produce the yolk protein precursor, vitellogenin (*Vg*) (Roy *et al.*, 2007). Recently in *A. aegypti*, six splice variants of AaegPTEN were identified and shown to be differentially expressed during development and in adult tissues (Riehle and Brown, 2007). The splice variant AaegPTEN6 particularly was expressed in the key reproductive tissues—the fat body and ovary (Riehle and Brown, 2007). Knockdown of AaegPTEN—or the variant AaegPTEN6—lead to an increase in egg production during the first reproductive cycle without affecting egg viability (Arik *et al.*, 2009).

Ablating the MNCs in *D. melanogaster* produces females that are smaller than wild type females and have reduced fecundity (Broughton *et al.*, 2005). Deletion of *DILPs1-5* generated homozygous adults that were poorly viable and displayed reduced fertility (Zhang *et al.*, 2009). In females mutant for DIR the ovaries are arrested at the previtellogenic stage (Tatar *et al.*, 2001). Treatment with methoprene, a juvenile hormone (JH) analog, restored vitellogenesis

which suggests a link between these two pathways. Mutations in chico results in females that are sterile (Bohni *et al.*, 1999).

#### Metabolism

Insulin functions in mammals to regulate blood glucose (Wu and Brown, 2006). It induces cells to take up glucose and convert it to glycogen for storage (Wu and Brown, 2006). Insulin inhibits glycogen break down and gluconeogenesis and shifts cell metabolism from catabolic to anabolic (Wu and Brown, 2006). Many early studies of the conserved action of insulin focused on injecting insects with vertebrate insulins and studying the effects (Wu and Brown, 2006). However due to the discovery of insect ILPs and the ability to synthesize or genetically manipulate them to study the regulation of carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in insects, scientists can now determine if effects of vertebrate insulins in earlier studies are real (Wu and Brown, 2006; Brown et al., 2008). Bombyxin II lowered hemolymph trehelose levels the major hemolymph sugar in insects-, raised trehalase activity, and lowered glycogen content and elevated glycogen phosphorylase activity in the fat body when injected into neck-ligated B. mori larvae. The effect was not the same in adult *B. mori* (reviewed in Wu and Brown, 2006). Contrary to insulin function in mammals, the function of bombyxin II was to advance the breakdown and utilization of carbohydrate reserves (reviewed in Wu and Brown, 2006). Yet results from adult B. mori indicate that regulation of metabolism throughout the life of an insect may be complex (reviewed in Wu and Brown, 2006). In support of this view, A. aegypti synthetic ILP3 reduced circulating sugar levels and elevated carbohydrate and lipid storage in decapitated adult female mosquitoes (Brown et al., 2008). In addition, deletion of Drosophila *ILPs1-5* produced larvae that displayed metabolic abnormalities analogous to those caused by

loss of insulin action in mammals such as elevated circulating sugar levels and starvation responses in fat tissues (Zhang *et al.*, 2009). These symptoms are similar to those for human Type I diabetes. Expression of DILP2 in these larvae partially rescued the starvation response and lowered circulating sugar levels to or below wild-type levels (Zhang *et al.*, 2009). Ablation of IPCs in larvae elevated circulating trehalose and glucose levels (Broughton *et al.*, 2005; Rulifson *et al.*, 2002). Although the effects of deletion of ILP genes and ablation of IPCs are similar, IPC ablated larvae had higher hemolyph sugar levels, indicating that ablation of IPCs may affect additional signals (Zhang *et al.*, 2009). Flies with mutations in DIR and CHICO displayed up to a fivefold increase in lipids (Bohni *et al.*, 1999).

From the discovery of the first insect ILP, bombyxin, our knowledge of the insulin signaling pathway in insects has expanded to include multiple ILPs from different species and an intricate but evolutionarily conserved signaling pathway. Its functions are based on the studies of only a few model organisms. Future investigations that include non-model organisms such as scarab beetles may expand our knowledge of the functions of this pathway not only in growth and development but also in metabolism, longevity, and reproduction.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

# MATERIALS AND METHODS AND RESULTS

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Beetle rearing

Laboratory beetle colonies were reared from Onthophagus nigriventris adults collected from cow and horse manure at approximately 3000 feet from the Kahua Ranch, Kamuela, Hawaii 96743 in late May 2007, 2008, and 2009. Adults were kept and bred in cylindrical plastic containers 21 cm tall and a diameter of 7.5 cm with approximately 600 ml of a sterilized soil/sand mixture and 200 ml of cow dung in an environmental chamber with 80% humidity, at 26 °C, under a 16:8 light:dark cycle. Typically 2-4 females were housed in each tube with 1-2 males, however, we found that under our breeding conditions, O. nigriventris performed better in single breeding pairs. Every fourteen days the beetles were removed from the plastic containers, and brood balls were collected. Brood balls were kept under the same environmental conditions described for adults in 16 oz plastic, covered, deli dishes on vermiculite and the dishes were dated. Newly emerged beetles require a period to feed and become sexually mature (approximately one week) and were kept separate from older beetles. Beetle larvae were sexed during the third instar according to the method of Moczek and Nijhout (2002). Beetle larvae were observed and weighed until the prepupal period when feeding stops and physiological changes such as the gut purge and imaginal disc proliferation begin. At the early prepupal period, larvae are characterized by a complete gut purge and translucent cuticle while late prepupal period (approximately 12 hours later at 26°C) larvae are characterized by a flattening of the typical C-shape of the larva and are extremely opaque.

## RNA Extraction and cDNA synthesis for cloning and sequencing

Total RNA was extracted from whole tissues of late prepupal stage O. nigriventris using the Qiagen RNAlater reagent and RNeasy<sup>®</sup> Plus Mini kit and protocol (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). In order to convert RNA to cDNA, the SMART<sup>TM</sup> cDNA amplification kit (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA) and the SuperScript III First Strand Synthesis SuperMix kit and protocol (Invitrogen, USA) were used. At this point, 1 µl of the 5' template was used in RACE reactions. For PCR and 3' RACE reactions the template was further amplified by Long Distance PCR (LDPCR) according to the SMART<sup>™</sup> cDNA amplification kit instructions (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA) using Advantage<sup>®</sup> 2 Taq polymerase mix (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA) and purified using the High Pure PCR Product Purification Kit and protocol from Roche Diagnostics (Indianapolis, IN, USA). The template was then normalized to insure that all transcripts were present in equal amounts in a sample and that more abundant transcripts did not overshadow rare targets. This step was accomplished using Duplex Specific Nuclease (DSN) enzyme, 10X DSN buffer, and protocol from Evrogen (Moscow, Russia). Using 2 µl of the normalized cDNA, LDPCR reactions were performed according to the protocol used for previous amplification of cDNA. The resulting template was diluted 1:10 before being used in PCR reactions. Incubation steps were performed in a Mastercycler gradient thermocycler (Eppendorf, Westbury, NY).

# Cloning of the O. nigriventris insulin receptor transcript

In order to obtain the initial fragment of the *O. nigriventris* insulin receptor, degenerate primers were used (Table 1; Roovers *et al.*, 1995) in PCR. The cycling conditions were as follows: 94°C for 3 minutes, then 30 cycles of 94°C for 30 seconds, 50°C for 30 seconds, and

72°C for 3 minutes, with a final extension of 72°C for 5 minutes. This fragment, which was 450 bp in length, was from the conserved tyrosine kinase domain (TKD). From this fragment, gene specific primers were designed using Primer 3 (http://primer3.sourceforge.net/) (Rozen and Skaletsky, 2000) for 5' and 3' RACE and used along with the 3'-RACE CDS Primer A and the Universal Primer Mix (UPM) from the SMART<sup>TM</sup> RACE cDNA Amplification kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA). These primers are listed in Table 1 along with their annealing temperatures (T<sub>a</sub>). Gel electrophoresis was performed using a 1.2% agarose gel. Bands appearing at the predicted position were excised and placed in a GenElute<sup>TM</sup> Minus EtBr Spin column and the DNA was extracted using the manufacturer's protocol (Sigma, Saint Louis, MO, USA).

Ligation and cloning were performed using the TOPO TA Cloning<sup>®</sup> kit from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA) following the manufacturer's protocol. The pCR<sup>®</sup>II-TOPO<sup>®</sup> 4.0 kb vector and chemically competent One Shot<sup>®</sup> TOP10 *E. coli* cells were used. Fifty microliters of each reaction was spread on prepared LB plus 100 µg/ml ampicillin agar plates and incubated overnight at 37 °C. Transformed colonies chosen for purification were incubated overnight in a 37 °C air incubator, with shaking at 225 rpm, in sterile, covered test tubes containing 3 ml of LB broth plus 100 µg/ml of ampicillin. To isolate the plasmid DNA from *E. coli*, the Qiagen miniprep kit and protocol were used (QIAGEN Sciences, Maryland, USA). Fragment sizes were examined by digestion of the miniprep DNA using the restriction enzyme EcoR1 and protocol (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Miniprep DNA was sent to MCLAB (South San Fransico, CA) for sequencing using the M13 forward and M13 reverse primers. Sequences were blasted using tblastx (NCBI) to compare them to sequences from other organisms to determine if any were

similar to the InR transcript. Seqman (Lasergene software, DNASTAR<sup>®</sup>, Inc.) was used to generate putative OnInR fragments and produce a contiguous sequence from all sequencing projects. Each nucleotide was sequenced at least 3 times but for many regions up to 10 times coverage was obtained.

Primer Name	Direction	Sequence	$T_a (^{\circ}C)$
InR	Forward	C TTY GGN ATG GTN TAY GAR GG	55
	Reverse	C GTC ATN CCR AAR TCN CCR ATY TT	55
OnInR F18	Forward	AT TTA TCG GCG AAG AAG TTT GTC CAT CG	65
OnInR R22B	Reverse	AAG GAG GGC GGT TGC CCA ATA ATA CCA T	65
InR 5'UTR2	Reverse	GTT TCT ACA GAC GGA GCA TTG TTT G	65
InR 3'UTR2	Forward	GGA AGC TAG ATC AAC CAG AAA CAA TC	65

**Table 1. Degenerate and gene specific primers used to clone the OnInR**. Degenerate primers were taken from Roovers *et al.*, 1995. Gene specific primers were designed using Primer 3. All primers are shown in 5' to 3' orientation.

#### Annotating the sequence

The complete open reading frame (ORF) and translational start site of the OnInR was predicted using the ORF Finder on the NCBI website (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gorf/gorf .htm). The signal peptide was predicted using Signal 3.0 (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/ SignalP/) (Bendtsen *et al.*, 2004; Nielsen *et al.*, 1997). Other conserved domains were predicted using the Conserved Domain Database (CDD) on the NCBI website and comparison with *Drosophila* insulin receptor (DIR) (Fernandez *et al.*, 1995; Ruan *et al.*, 1995), molluscan insulinrelated peptide receptor (MIPR) from *Lymnaea stagnalis* (Roovers *et al.*, 1995) and mosquito insulin receptor from *Aedes aegypti* (AaeInR) (Graf *et al.*, 1997). A protein alignment was created by the Clustal W method using MegAlign (Lasergene software, DNASTAR<sup>®</sup>, Inc.) in order to determine similarity between the OnInR and other IRs. Insulin receptors used in this alignment are listed in Table 2 below along with their accession numbers and the number of amino acides that were used in the alignment.

Species	Accession Number	Number of amino acids used
O. nigriventris	N/A	1370
D. melanogaster	ACL83551	1615
H. sapiens	AAA59452	1382
A. aegypti	AAB17094	1371
B. mori	NP_001037011	1472

**Table 2. Insulin receptors used in protein alignment**. Accession numbers and number of amino acids used in the alignment are indicated.

# Phylogenetic analysis of OnInR

A phylogenetic analysis of OnInR with IRs from different arthropods and mammals was performed using ClustalX 2.0.12 (Larkin *et al.*, 2007). The entire prepropeptide of each IR was entered. For an outgroup, representatives were chosen from the molluscs: *Crassostrea gigas* (the pacific oyster), *Lymnaea stagnalis* (great pond snail), and *Biomphalaria glabrata* (a species of air-breathing freshwater snail). These and other species used in the analysis are listed in Table 3 along with accession numbers for their insulin receptors and the number of amino acids used from each sequence. Phylogenetic analysis was performed using neighbor joining analysis. A bootstrap analysis with 1000 replicates was performed.

Species	Accession Number	Number of amino acids used
H. sapiens	AAA59452	1382
Mus musculus	AAA39318	1372
D. melanogaster	ACL83551	2144
A. aegypti	AAB17094	1371
Anopheles gambiae	XP_320130	1316
M. sexta	ACI02334	1064
B. mori	NP_001037011	1472
O. nigriventris	N/A	1370
Tribolium castaneum	EFA11583	1363
C. elegans	ACC47715	1846
Schistosoma mansoni	AAV65745	1736
Echinococcus multilocularis	CAD30260	1736
Crassostrea gigas	CAD59674	804
Lymnaea stagnalis	CAA59353	1607
Biomphalaria glabrata	AAF31166	1671

**Table 3. Insulin receptors used in phylogenetic analysis**. Accession numbers and number of amino acids used in the analysis.

# RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis for RT-PCR and quantitative PCR

Larvae from the late prepupal period were weighed and anaesthetized on ice and horn, wing, leg, and genital (males) imaginal discs were dissected from large and small males and females of all sizes for RNA isolation. Size categories of large and small males were determined by the weight of the prepupa at the time of dissection: large males are greater than or equal to 0.25g and small males are less than or equal to 0.20g to ensure differences in size.

Total RNA was extracted from imaginal discs listed above using the TRIzol<sup>®</sup> reagent and protocol (Invitrogen, USA). In order to ensure no contamination from genomic DNA, the RNA was treated with DNase1 according to the manufacturer's protocol (Ambion, Austin, TX, USA). First-strand cDNA was made using 1 µg of total RNA and the SMART<sup>TM</sup> cDNA amplification kit and MMLV reverse transcriptase (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA). Ten microliters of the template was further amplified by LDPCR according to the SMART<sup>™</sup> cDNA amplification kit instructions using Advantage<sup>®</sup> 2 Taq polymerase mix (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA). The cycling conditions were as follows: 95 °C for 1 minute and 25 cycles of 95 °C for 15 seconds, 65 °C for 30 seconds, and 68 °C for 6 minutes, hold at 4 °C.

# RT-PCR of Imaginal disc tissues

SMART cDNAs from imaginal disc tissues were investigated for the presence of the OnInR transcript using gene specific forward and reverse primers listed in Table 4. Ribosomal 18S was used as a reference gene. These primers are also listed in Table 4. Large and small males and large and small females were compared using horn, wing, leg, and genital (males) tissues.

Primer Name	Direction	Sequence	T <sub>a</sub> (°C)
OnInR F51	Forward	ccg aaa agt cca aat gga aa	65
OnInR R51	Reverse	tcg ccg tta gcc att aat tc	65
On18S 4	Forward	agg gaa gac acg ctg att cct tca	65
	Reverse	att ctt gga tcg tcg caa gac gga	65

Table 4. RT-PCR primers. Primers are shown in the 5' to 3' orientation.

#### Quantitative PCR

To quantify the relative abundance of *O.nigriventris* InR transcripts during late pre-pupal development from small males, large males and female horn tissues, Quantitect SYBR green PCR kit was used (QIAGEN, Valencia, CA, USA) on a GeneAmp 5700 sequence detection system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) using gene specific primers listed in Table 5 for the *O. nigriventris* InR and 28S rRNA genes. Primers were designed to be less than or equal to

150 bp with melting temperatures in the range of 56-58 °C with the computer program Primer3 (Rosen & Skaletsky 2000). Three replicates were performed for each sample, using 0.1 pg of cDNA for each replicate sample and 50 nM final primer concentration per reaction. Real-time qPCR cycling parameters were the same for both transcripts and were as follows: 95 °C for 5 minutes, then 40 cycles of 95 °C for 30 seconds, 55 °C for 30 seconds, 72 °C for 30 seconds and last a melting curve analysis of 80 repeats of 50 °C for 15 seconds with a temperature increase in increments of 0.5 °C and a 4 °C hold.

# Statistical analysis

Relative expression of OnInR mRNA was determined using the comparative  $C_T$  method ( $\Delta\Delta C_T$ ). Standard errors (SE) and standard errors of the mean (SEM) are indicated for measures of relative expression. P values were calculated by using two-tailed Student's t tests (Figure 10).

Primer Name	Direction	Sequence	Fragment size (bp)	$T_a$ (°C)
InR	Forward	aac acg caa caa acg cag aaa	119	56.5
	Reverse	taa tgt cgg ttg tcc ttg aga tac		54
28S	Forward	cgg atc ctc cct aac acc aca ttt	103	58
	Reverse	aac aag gat tcc ctt agt agc ggc		58

Table 5. Gene specific primers for qPCR. All primers are listed in the 5' to 3' orientation.

# Results

## O. nigriventris insulin receptor transcript

The degenerate primers were used to amplify a 450 bp fragment from *O. nigriventris* cDNA. This fragment was analyzed using BLAST and exhibited high similarity to the tyrosine kinase domain of insulin receptors from other species. From these data we tentatively concluded that this cDNA fragment represented part of an OnInR homologue. Gene-specific primers were produced from this fragment using Primer 3 and used in RACE reactions to produce overlapping fragments of the full length transcript. Analysis of cloned fragments using SeqMan (Lasergene) revealed which fragments were identical in the areas of overlap. This indicated that these fragments originated from the same transcript. The complete contig was 4757 bp long including a complete 3' UTR and a partial 5' UTR and most likely encodes the putative OnInR. The longest open reading frame (ORF) begins at bp 55 and ends at 4162 and encodes a 1369-aa putative OnInR protein (Figure 3, 4, and 5).

#### N-Terminal

The predicted OnInR signal peptide extends from aa 1-37 (Figure 3). This sequence is extremely hydrophobic in character (22 of the 37 amino acids are hydrophobic). Like most proreceptor sequences it is preceded by an initiator methionine.

As in mammalian IR and other IR sequences known to date, the OnInR contains a cysteine-rich region (aa 202-356). This region of the OnInR contains 24 cysteines, 23 of which occupy conserved positions when compared with human, *Drosophila*, *A. aegypti* and *B. mori* IRs (Figure 3 and Appendix A). Overall similarity of this region when compared with the IRs listed above ranges from about 20% to 24%.

The two regions flanking the cystein-rich domain are known as the leucine-rich regions and are more conserved in sequence than the cysteine-rich region (Figure 3). It was once thought that these domains made up bilobal ligand binding sites and in the mammalian insulin receptor were important for binding insulin (DeMeyts, 2004). It is now known that while the first region is important for binding insulin, the second is not (Rentería *et al.*, 2008). In the IGF-1 receptor the cys-rich region is known to contain the specificity determinants for IGF-1 binding (Hoyne *et al.*, 2000). The N-terminal region (aa 74-186) displays 44 to 60% similarity with IRs listed above and the domain C-terminal to the cys-rich region (aa 365-486) displays about 37 to 53% similarity (Appendix A).

1 1	G∆⊺	FGC	۲Δ <sup>-</sup>		ГСТ	GAG	CGC	۵۵۵	GCG	GGG	сст	ста	стт	тас	CGG	ΔΤΔ	AGT	CAC	ccc	M ATG	A GCA
_	0/ (			uc.		0, (0															
3	S	k	(	S	Ι	С	G	L	Α	D	Т	G	R	L	С	S	W	L	L	V	Α
61	тсо	GAA	٩GT	CG4	٩ΤΤ	TGC	GGA	СТТ	GCT	GAC	ACG	GGC	CGG	СТС	TGT	AGT	TGG	TTG	CTG	GTT	GCG
23	W	\ \	/	V	F	G	F	Y	С	Ν	L	Ρ	V	Т	Н	А	G	Υ	Ι	Т	Е
121	тG	GGT	-CG	GTT7	ΓTT(	GGA	ттт	ТАС	TGC	AAC	TTG	CCG	GTT.	ACC	CAC	GCT	GGT	TAC	АТТ	ACC	GAA
43	Y	Ν	J	G	F	Т	Р	Y	Ν	К	Т	S	G	Ι	C	К	S	V	D	Ι	R
181	TAC	CAA		GAT	ГТТ	АСТ	ССА	ТАТ	AAT	AAA	ACA	ТСА	GGC	ATA	т <mark>с</mark> с,	AAG.	AGT	GТG	GAC	ΑΤΤ	CGA
63	Ν	S	5	G	Е	М	F	Е	Ν	L	R	G	C	R	V	V	Ε	G	Y	I	0
241	AA	гтс	CAC	GGG	GAG	ATG	ттс	GAG	AAC	TTG	CGA	GGT	TGC.	AGA	GTG	GTT	GAG	GGT	ТАС	АТС	CĂĂ
83	τ		,	1	F	л	н	F	N	K	5	τ	F	F	N	τ	S	F	P	F	1
301	Λ <u>Τ</u>	-67	- -тс	<i>ב</i> דדי			,, с л т	<u>د م</u>	ллт	· ^ ^ ^ .	тсс	, ^	, TTT			Λ <sup>±</sup> C	ی مح <i>د</i>	, ттт	r'		TTC
101	AI					GAC	CAI	GAA		AAA	TCG.	ACG		GAA	HAC/	ATC	AGC			GAA	110
103	R	E	Ξ	Ι	Т	G	Η	L	L	L	Y	R	V	Ν	G	L	Т	5	L	G	Κ
361	CG	GGA	AAA	ATT/	ACT	GGT	CAT	СТА	СТС	TTG	TAT	AGG	GTG	AAC	GGA <sup>-</sup>	TTG	ACT	AGT	TTG	GGT	ΑΑΑ
123	L	ł	=	Ρ	Ν	L	Α	V	I	R	G	Q	Q	Ρ	L	L	L	G	Y	Α	L
421	СТ	TT	тс	CG4	AC.	TTG	GCC	GTG	ATA	AGA	GGT	CĂĂ	CAG	CCG	TTG	ΤΤG	TTG	GGG	Т <mark>А</mark> С	GCG	TTG
143	I	j,	τ	F	Ε	М	Р	5	L	Q	Ε	Ι	G	L	Y	5	L	Т	D	I	М
481	ATC	CAT	гст	ттс	GAA.	ATG	сст	AGT	ста	CAA	GAG	АТС	GGT	стс	TAT	TCG	TTA	ACG	GAC	ΑΤΤ	ATG

163 NGGIRIDKNPQL<mark>C</mark>FANTINW 541 AACGGTGGGATTCGGATTGATAAAAATCCTCAATTGTGCTTCGCTAATACGATCAACTGG 183 N R I M H K K N K D A E L F I R S S K K 601 ΑΑΤΑGGATTATGCACAAGAAAAATAAAGATGCCGAACTGTTTATAAGGAGTAGTAAAAAA 203 ENE<mark>C</mark>PM<mark>C</mark>PRMDNGKPLCEY<mark>C</mark> 661 GAAAATGAGTGTCCGATGTGTCCGAGGATGGATAACGGAAAACCTTTGTGCGAGTATTGT 223 W S S K H <mark>C</mark> Q K K <mark>C</mark> K S N <mark>C</mark> T S <mark>C</mark> N D L 721 TGGAGTAGCAAACACTGCCAGAAAAAATGTAAGAGTAATTGTACGTCGTGCAACGATTTG G E <mark>C</mark> N N T <mark>C</mark> I G G <mark>C</mark> S N N D P K Q <mark>C</mark> 243 781 GGGGAATGTTGTAATAATACGTGTATCGGCGGGTGCTCGAACAATGACCCCAAACAATGC 263 S V C R N I T F Y T E F N K T V C L D K 841 TCCGTCTGTAGAAACATTACCTTTTACACGGAATTTAATAAAACAGTGTGTCTAGACAAG C P E G L F K Y L D R R C V T R E E C I 383 901 TGCCCAGAGGGTTTGTTTAAATATTTAGATAGGAGATGCGTAACTAGAGAAGAATGTATT N S P K H I E Y T T S K O E Y E F K T F 303 N N T S C V Y K C P P K Y T D D P K K K 323 1021 AATAACACCAGTTGTGTCTACAAATGTCCACCGAAATACACCGACGATCCGAAGAAAAAA 343 A C V S C D S R C K K V C P G I S V N N 1081 GCGTGCGTTTCTTGCGACTCTAGATGCAAAAAGGTTTGTCCAGGAATAAGTGTTAACAAT I E T A E S L K E <mark>C</mark> T H I T G S I E I E 363 1141 ATTGAAACAGCAGAATCCCTAAAAGAGTGCACTCATATTACTGGATCTATAGAAATCGAA 383 V S G K N I V P A L N A N L N M I E E I 1201 GTTAGTGGAAAAAATATTGTACCTGCATTAAACGCAAACTTAAACATGATTGAGGAAATA D G Y L K I V R S Y P L I S L S F F K S 403 1261 GACGGTTATTTAAAAATAGTTAGATCATATCCGTTGATATCACTAAGTTTTTTCAAAAGT L K V I H G N A F E N G K Y S F I V L D 423 1321 CTCAAGGTGATTCACGGAAATGCTTTTGAAAACGGAAAGTATTCGTTTATCGTTTTGGAC 443 N Q N L Q N F W D W E N R T L Q I N H G 1381 AATCAGAATTTACAAAACTTCTGGGATTGGGAAAACCGAACGTTGCAAATTAACCACGGA K L F F H F N P K L <mark>C</mark> **Y** K L I K O L A E 463 1441 ΑΑΑΤΤGTTCTTCCACTTTAACCCAAAGTTGTGTTACAAATTAATCAAACAACTCGCCGAA 483 *K A N I* T K F D D W D V A E N S N G D K 1501 AAAGCTAACATTACTAAATTCGACGATTGGGATGTGGCGGAAAATTCCAACGGCGATAAA **Figure 3. OnInR**  $\alpha$  **subunit**. Signal peptide (grey shade), leucine-rich repeats (italic) and cysteine-rich domain (bold). Conserved tyr are highlighted in green and conserved cys in yellow.

#### The processing site and fibronectin type III domains

Following the second ligand binding domain in HIR are 3 fibronectin type III domains (FnIII-1 to FnIII-3). The  $\alpha$ - $\beta$  cleavage site lies within FnIII-2 (Mckern *et al.*, 2006). In the OnInR these domains correspond with aa positions 627-724 and 845-925 (Figure 4 and Appendix B). The region between these two corresponds with the FnIII-2 of the HIR and contains the conserved processing site but is not identified by CDD as a FnIII domain. The interdomain contacts are located at positions 626, 909, and 923. According to the HIR sequence, disulfide bonds between each  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ - subunit are predicted to form between cysteines C678 and C824 and  $\alpha$ - $\alpha$  disulfide bonds at C504 in the FnIII-1 domains (McKern *et al.*, 2008). IRs are composed of two  $\alpha$ -subunits and two  $\beta$ -subunits held together by disulfide bonds. Located at aa position 757-761 of the OnInR is a putative furin-like proteolytic processing site which is potentially the site where the subunits are liberated from each other (Figure 4). This stretch of aa follows the sequence rules for constitutive precursor cleavage (Watanabe *et al.*, 1992).

T A C E I K D L I I E I O S K S S T S V 503 1561 ACCGCTTGTGAAATAAAAGACCTAATTATAGAAATTCAGTCGAAATCGAGCACATCAGTT 523 O L Y W V P F N I T D S R K L L S Y O I 1621 CAACTTTATTGGGTTCCGTTTAATATCACCGATTCCCGGAAATTACTTTCTTATCAAATT 543 Y H I E A P V Q N F S I F D S R D A <mark>C</mark> G 1681 TATCATATTGAAGCACCCGTACAAAATTTCTCCATATTTGATAGTAGAGATGCTTGTGGG 563 G D G W S I Q D V P I P Y D H H N V S K 1741 GGGGATGGATGGTCAATACAAGATGTTCCAATCCCTTATGATCACCACAACGTATCAAAA 583 I E A T L K D L K A M T Q M A F F V K T 1801 ΑΤCGAAGCAACCCTAAAAGATTTAAAAGCATACACGCAATACGCTTTTTTCGTCAAAACT Y T I A Q E K N G G L S A L K Y F R T N 603 1861 TACACCATAGCACAAGAAAAAAATGGCGGATTAAGTGCTCTCAAGTATTTCAGAACAAAC PGOPSSPTFLNLRANSSSSI 623 1921 CCTGGCCAACCTTCATCGCCGACTTTCTTAAATTTACGAGCAAATAGCAGTAGCAGTATA 643 EVDWSPPKSPNGNLTH<mark>Y</mark>KVI 1981 GAAGTCGACTGGTCACCGCCGAAAAGTCCAAATGGAAATTTAACTCATTATAAAGTAATC V T L K E T Q D E L E Y S N S C S V R S 663 GTTACTCTGAAGGAAACTCAAGATGAATTAGAATATAGTAACTCGTGCTCTGTAAGGTCT 2041 S O T T P K T S D P A K P T D S P P S K 683 TCCCAGACAACTCCTAAAACTTCAGACCCGGCAAAACCAACAGATTCTCCTCCATCAAAA 2101 703 N D T <mark>C</mark> D <del>C</del> T T D M L R E S N A L A N K 2161 723 E A E T E S R I N F E N E L O N R V <mark>Y</mark> I 2221 GAAGCGGAAACGGAATCTCGAATTAATTTTGAAAATGAACTACAAAATCGGGTTTATATT 743 K R V A P P P Q P S M T L S <mark>R K K R</mark> Q M 2281 763 F P S H N D S N V S D S Y V G N K T Y V 2341 TTTCCTTCACATAATGATTCAAACGTTTCCGATTCATACGTAGGTAATAAAACTTACGTT 783 A T Y I V T G T K F Y I T N L Q H H T S GCCACTTATATTGTGACTGGTACTAAATTCTATATAACAAATTTACAACATCATACGAGT 2401

803	Y	Е	Ι	S	V	Q	А	C	R	К	Т	Е	Ρ	D	К	G	D	F	Q	Ρ
2461	TAT	GAA	ΑΤΑ	TCA	GTA	CAA	GCA	TGT	AGG	iΑΑΑ	ACG	GAA	ССТ	GAC	AAA	GGC	GAT	ттт	CAA	ССТ
823	N	<mark>С</mark>	S	D	S	T	S	K	E	I	R	T	E	S	K	H	<u>D</u>	A	D	<u>N</u>
2521	AAT	TGC	AGC	GAT	AGT	ACT	TCA	AAA	GAA	ATT	CGA	ACG	GAA	AGC	AAA	CAT	GAT	GCG	GAT	AAT
843	<u>I</u>	A	<u>S</u>	N	I	S	I	V	S	V	T	<u>E</u>	<u>N</u>	S	I	T	I	S	W	<u>    K</u>
2581	ATT	GCT	TCA	AAC	ATA	TCG	ATA	GTT	TCG	GTT	ACG	GAA	AAT	TCT	ATA	ACA	ATA	TCT	TGG	AAA
863	<u>Р</u>	P	I	<u>N</u>	P	N	<u>G</u>	R	I	R	H	Y	F	I	D	V	S	K	S	<u> </u>
2641	ССТ	CCG	ATA	AAT	CCC	AAC	GGA	CGT	ATC	CGA	CAT	TAT	TTC	ATA	GAT	GTT	TCA	AAA	TCA	
883	<u>T</u>	P	I	P	<u>E</u>	<u>R</u>	C	<u>I</u>	D	N	Q	D	F	K	N	<u>S</u>	S	Y	K	<u>Y</u>
2701	ACT	CCA	ATC	CCT	GAA	CGC	TGC	ATT	GAC	AAC	CAG	GAT	TTT	AAA	AAT	AGC	AGC	TAC	AAA	TAT
903	T	I	<u>E</u>	P	L	S	P	<u>G</u>	N	Y	T	I	<u>R</u>	V	Q	A	I	S	D	<u>A</u>
2761	ACT	ATT	GAA	CCG	TTA	TCT	CCT	GGG	iAAT	TAT	ACG	ATA	CGA	GTT	CAA	GCG	ATA	TCA	GAT	GCA
923 2821	<u>N</u> AAT	T ACT	G GGC	<u>G</u> GGT	A GCT	F TTT	S TCA	L TTA		V GTT	<u>s</u> тст	V GTC	<u>Y</u> TAT	I ATC	D GAT	E GAA	P CCA	S TCC	D GAT	S TCT
rigure	4 F10	ron	ectil	u ty	pe II	<b>u</b> a(	oma	ins a	and	pro	cessi	ng s	ate.	inte	raon	nain	con	lacts	s (gre	ey

shade), FnIII-1 (italic) and 3 (underline) domains, cleavage site (fuchsia shade), conserved cysteines (yellow highlight, bold-disulfide bonds) and tyrosines (green highlight).

# Transmembrane and Juxtamembrane domains

The putative transmembrane domain of the OnInR consists of 20 aa (943-964), 19 of which are hydrophobic in nature (Figure 5). Though its hydrophobic character has been preserved, there is very little conservation of the sequence of this region when compared to human, *Drosophila*, *A. aegypti* and *B. mori* IRs (15-35%; Appendix C).

The putative juxtamembrane domain of the OnInR extends from aa 965-984 (Figure 5). There is limited conservation within this region when compared with species previously listed (25-40%; Appendix C) except for an NEPY motif that is implicated in coupling activated IRs to downstream signal transduction molecules (Sattar *et al.*, 2007). It has previously shown that this sequence is important but not absolutely necessary for coupling of HIR kinase to IRS 1 and p85 or for mediating insulin metabolic and mitogenic effects (Berhanu *et al.*, 1997). But the role of the JM domain itself remains undetermined.

## Tyrosine kinase domain

The prospective TK domain is the most conserved part of the putative OnInR (Figure 5). The percent identity when compared to the TKD of human, *Drosophila*, *A. aegypti* and *B. mori* IRs ranges from 68% to 77% (Appendix C). The OnInR TKD begins at aa 991 and ends at aa 1270. There is a potential ATP-binding site in a <sup>1005</sup>G-X-G-X-X-G<sup>1010</sup> motif and a conserved Lysine<sup>1031</sup>. Other conserved sequences include two motifs indicative of a protein kinase, <sup>1154</sup>D-F-G<sup>1156</sup> and <sup>1181</sup>A-P-E<sup>1183</sup>, and specific tyrosine kinase consensus sequences, <sup>1136</sup>D-L-A-A-R-N<sup>1141</sup> and <sup>1176</sup>P-V-R-W-M-A-P-E<sup>1183</sup>. When activated, the insulin receptor becomes autophosphorylated on specific tyrosine residues contained in a conserved YETDYY motif. In the OnInR these tyrosine residues are at positions 1162, 1166, and 1167. Additional conserved tyrosine residues are present at positions 1013, 1088, 1126, 1200, 1214, 1225, and 1243.

W N I I A G I I I L V L I V V G I I V 🛛 943 2881 TGGAATATTATAGCGGGAATTATTATTCTTGTTTTAATCGTTGTGGGTATTATTGTATAC 963 I L F K K R Q Q E E S P R M N P S I N P 2941 ATACTATTTAAAAAACGTCAACAAGAAGAAGTCCTCGGATGAATCCGTCAATAAATCCC 983 E Y M Y V P D D W E I P R K K I E L H K 3001 GAATATATGTATGTTCCGGACGATTGGGAAATTCCACGGAAAAAAATTGAATTACACAAA 1003 EL<mark>GQGSFG</mark>MV<mark>Y</mark>EGIVRDIKG 3061 GAGTTGGGCCAAGGAAGTTTTGGCATGGTTTATGAAGGAATTGTACGTGATATTAAAGGA 1023 KATIR<mark>C</mark>AI<mark>K</mark>TVNEHATNAER 3121 AAAGCGACGATTCGTTGTGCTATTAAAACCGTTAACGAACACGCAACAAACGCAGAAAGG 1043 L N F L K E A S V M K A F D T A H V I K 3181 TTAAATTTCTTAAAAGAAGCTTCGGTTATGAAAGCATTTGATACAGCGCACGTGATAAAA LLGVVSQGQPTLVVMELMAN 1063 3241 CTATTAGGAGTTGTATCTCAAGGACAACCGACATTAGTTGTAATGGAATTAATGGCTAAC 1083 G D L K S 🛛 L R L H R P D S D G Y T H G 3301 GGCGATTTAAAATCTTATCTTAGGTTACACAGACCAGATTCAGATGGTTACACTCATGGT 1103 I I G Q P P S L R R I L Q M A I E I A D 3361 ATTATTGGGCAACCGCCCTCCTTACGAAGGATATTACAAATGGCGATAGAAATCGCTGAC 1123 G M A <mark>Y</mark> L S A K K F V H R **D L A A R N C** 3421 GGTATGGCTTATTTATCGGCGAAGAAGTTTGTCCATCGTGATTTAGCGGCGAGAAATTGT 1143 M V A E D L T V K I <mark>G D F</mark> G M T R D I <u>Y</u> 3481 ATGGTAGCGGAAGATTTAACTGTTAAAATAGGCGATTTTGGTATGACTAGAGATATTTAT DYYRKGTKGLL<mark>PVRWMA</mark> 1163 Е Т 3541 GAAACGGATTATTATCGAAAAGGAACAAAGGGATTGTTACCAGTTAGGTGGATGGCACCG 1183 E S L K D G V F S S S D I W S Y G V V 3601 GAAAGTCTTAAAGACGGAGTTTTTTCAAGTAGTAGTGATATTTGGAGTTATGGCGTGGTA 1203 L W E M A T L A S Q P <mark>Y</mark> Q G L S N D Q V 3661 TTGTGGGAGATGGCTACTTTAGCATCACAACCTTACCAAGGATTATCGAACGATCAAGTC 1223 L R <mark>M</mark> V I D S G I M E R P E N <mark>C</mark> P D K L 3721 CTAAGGTATGTTATTGATAGCGGTATTATGGAAAGACCAGAAAATTGTCCGGATAAACTC

1243 ΗL M R Q <mark>C</mark> W K Y K Y A E R P S FL D Y 3781 TATCATTTGATGCGACAATGTTGGAAGTACAAATACGCGGAAAGACCGAGTTTTCTCGAT 1263 D S SPQFS L V S Μ LL Е R V S F Y Н 3841 TTAGTCTCGATGTTGTTGGAGGATTCGAGCCCGCAATTTAGCAGGGTTTCGTTTTATCAC 1283 S Α Α GΜ EARST RNNQMIIQD D 3901 AGCGCGGCTGGAATGGAAGCTAGATCAACCAGAAACAATCAAATGATCATTCAAGACGAC 1303 V М MPL RLTKELE Е ΙΥ ΡL N S С 3961 GTAATGATGCCGTTAAGACTGACCAAAGAACTAGAGGAGATTTATCCGTTAAATAGTTGC 1323 D S E V E D D L V G S P H M EFS Α D S 4021 GCTGACGATTCGGAAGTCGAAGACGATTTGGTTGGAAGCCCGCATATGGAATTCTCCAGC 1343 P K V Q K D T T T G T A N GYVGT Y Ν 4081 1363 Ρ S Ν G Т R Α 4141 4201 4261 CGATATGAAATAATGCAGAACCGATCGTATACTCTACTTACCACTCATTCGAATTGTATT 4321 CCATTTTATTTTTTAAAAGGGAATTTAAAAAAATAGTTCATCTTGCCCAAGTACCGAAC 4381 4441 CGCGCTGCACACCCCTCCCTCAGACCTATGGTCATCCTCTATTAGTTTTGGGTTCGTCGC 4501 CCGCAATCTCTACAGCATAAGCCTAAGTTCCTGATATGACCATAATTTAAATCCGATATT 4561 4621 TTTATCATACCTACTACTGTTATTTTATATTTTTAATTCGTTATATTTTGTACCATTGAGA 4681 4741 ΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑΑ

**Figure 5. OnInR**  $\beta$  **subunit.** Transmembrane domain (TMD; bold), juxtamembrane domain (JMD; italic), beginning and end of the tyrosine kinase domain (TKD; grey shade), ATPbinding site (fuchsia shade), protein kinase and protein tyrosine kinase motifs (blue and red shade).

# Evolutionary relationship of OnInR to other species

A phylogenetic analysis of known arthropod and mammalian IRs was performed to determine

the evolutionary relatedness of the OnInR to insect, non-insect arthropod, and mammalian IRs.

Molluscan IRs were used as an outgroup to anchor the neighbor-joining tree (Figure 6). The

strongest link was between OnInR and T. castaneum IR. The next closest relationship appeared

to be between the Coleoptera and Diptera IRs. Bootstrap analysis did not support a relationship between the Coleoptera IRs and Lepidoptera IRs. There was, however, a strong association between the insect IRs and mammalian IRs. Nematode and flatworm IRs did not show any association with this group. The unrooted tree supports these groupings (Figure 7).



**Figure 6. Phylogenetic tree of the known vertebrate and invertebrate IRs.** Entire prepropeptide sequences were used. The tree was generated with ClustalW alignment and neighbor-joining tree with bootstrap analysis. Bootstrap values are shown at the nodes of the branches and represent the percentage of times that grouping was supported. Representatives from the molluscs were used as an outgroup.



**Figure 7. Comparative IR phylogenetic tree.** Entire prepropeptide sequences were used. An unrooted phylogenetic tree was created using the Gonnet 250 matrix and neighbor-joining algorithm. Support at each internal node was assessed using 1000 bootstrap samplings and the tree was visualized using Tree View. Branch lengths are drawn to scale.



**Figure 8. Distribution of OnInR in late prepupal stage imaginal discs.** Top row: OnInR. Bottom row: On18S. Lanes 2-5: large male (LM) horn (H), wing (W), leg (L), and genital (G) imaginal discs. Lanes 6-9: small male (SM) H, W, L, G. Lanes 10-12: large female (LF) H, W, L. Lanes 13-15: small female (SF) H, W, L. Molecular weight markers (LD) in nucleotides are indicated.

# Distribution of OnInR transcript in imaginal discs

In order to determine the distribution of the OnInR transcript among different traits during the time of growth, gene specific primers were designed against the sequence and used in PCR to determine the presence or absence of the transcript in cDNA made from the RNA of imaginal discs. 18S ribosomal RNA was used as a reference. Horn, wing, and leg discs from one large female and one small female were investigated. In a large male and a small male, in

addition to these traits, genital discs were also investigated. All discs showed the presence of insulin receptor transcript (Figure 8). No template controls each containing one set of primers, either InR or 18S, showed no contamination. All single primer controls were clear (Figure 9).

# Relative expression of OnInR mRNA in horn tissues

In order to determine the relative expression of the OnInR transcript in horn tissues,

qPCR reactions were conducted using the O. nigriventris 28S ribosomal RNA (accession number

EU162505) as a reference. Comparisons were conducted between large males, small males, large

females and small females to reveal any differences in OnInR expression levels between sex and/or body size. At this time no template controls and no reverse controls were not included in these experiments. Because these controls were not included, about one year after these tests were conducted further experiments were performed to determine if the RNA samples from the horn tissues were free of genomic DNA (gDNA) contamination. Due to gDNA contamination in many of horn tissue RNA samples despite treatment with DNase I, much of the qPCR data was not useable. Only RNA from small males and females was free of contamination and these comparisons are reported. Tests were conducted on five separate occasions. Four out of the five comparisons indicate that there is no difference in relative OnInR mRNA expression levels in horn tissues between small males and large females (see Appendix D). A representative set of data is shown below (Figure 10).



**Figure 9. Single primer controls for RT-PCR of imaginal discs.** Top row: OnInR primer controls. Bottom row: On18S primer controls. Molecular weight markers in nucleotides are indicated. Abbreviations: F (forward primer), R (reverse primer), LM (large male), SM (small male), LF (large female), SF (small female), H ( horn), W (wing), L (leg), and G (genital) imaginal discs.



**Figure 10. Expression of OnInR mRNA in the horn tissue.** Expression levels of OnInR mRNA in small male and large female horn tissues is relatively the same (p=0.314989). Standard deviation (SD) and standard error of the mean (SEM) are indicated.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

#### DISCUSSION

The insulin pathway represents an evolutionarily conserved mechanism for regulating growth and size in animals (Oldham *et al.*, 2002). By 1975, insulin had been isolated and sequenced from all classes of vertebrates (Chan and Steiner, 2000). With advances in molecular techniques and genomics, genes for ILPs and other components of the insulin signaling pathway have been identified in species from Orthoptera, Diptera, Lepidoptera, Hymenoptera, and Coleoptera (Wu and Brown, 2006). Studies of *Drosophila* and *C. elegans* have shown that ILP signaling through a conserved insulin signaling pathway regulate development, longevity, metabolism, and female reproduction (Claeys *et al.*, 2002; Garofalo, 2002; Goberdhan and Wilson, 2003; Wu and Brown, 2006; Edgar *et al.*, 2006; Giannakou and Partridge, 2007; Chistyakova, 2008; Taguchi and White, 2008; Hietakangas and Cohen, 2009; Panowski and Dillin, 2009).

# Structure of the O. nigriventris insulin receptor

The overall structure of the putative OnInR is extremely homologous to the mammalian insulin receptor and insulin receptors of other invertebrates. Like IRs from other species, it appears that the mature OnInR protein is a tetramer composed of two  $\alpha$  and two  $\beta$  subunits. There are several important conserved features in the OnInR transcript which include potential insulin-binding domains, a cysteine-rich region, a tyrosine kinase domain, a furin-like site for proteolytic processing that potentially specifies the cleavage of the  $\alpha$  from the  $\beta$  subunit, juxtamembrane and transmembrane domains. The potential  $\alpha$  subunit contains the leucine-rich repeat domains (L1 and L2) and cysteine-rich domains. Conservation of cysteine residues in the cysteine-rich domain may point to similar structural organization for the OnInR compared to other IRs. Intramolecular di-sulfide bonds between these cysteines link the  $\alpha$  subunits together and the  $\alpha$  subunits to the  $\beta$  and therefore are implicated in the IR tertiary (three-dimensional) structure.

Insulin binding sites have been characterized on the surfaces of the L1 domain and the cysteine rich region. Also, a region of conserved residues on the surface of the fibronectin type III domains has been identified as a strong candidate for an insulin binding site (Rentería *et al.*, 2008).Early biochemical characterization of DIR showed preferential binding of the receptor to mammalian insulin over IGF-1 (Petruzzelli *et al.*, 1986; Fernandez-Almonacid and Rosen, 1987) but DIR is no more similar to HIR than IGFR when their corresponding leucine-rich and cysteine-rich regions are aligned. This is also true of MIPR. Future ligand binding experiments will need to be conducted in order to determine if the OnInR will bind any commercially available vertebrate or invertebrate insulins or IGF-1 or any *Onthophagus* ILPs that may be discovered.

Insulin receptor  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits are produced from a common proreceptor by posttranslational processing at a putative tetrabasic processing site, RKKR. This motif is present in HIR and other insect IRs and is thought to be recognized and cleaved by furin endoproteases (Watanabe *et al.*, 1992). Since this tetrabasic motif is conserved in the OnInR, this suggests that the receptor will be processed in the same way as previously characterized IRs. However, further characterization will be needed to confirm this.

The first domain of note in the  $\beta$  subunit region is the transmembrane domain (TMD). This domain links the  $\beta$  subunit with the  $\alpha$  subunit and crosses the cell membrane. Observations

59

that single amino acid mutations in this domain lead to malfunction of human Receptor Tyrosine Kinases which causes certain types of cancer, indicates that interactions of single transmembrane helices are probably important for RTK activation and signaling (Finger *et al.*, 2009). In a recent study, all human RTK TMDs were shown to be able to form oligomeric structures within a membrane. This evidence further indicates that TMD interaction is a property of RTKs and is important for activation and signaling of human RTKs (Finger *et al.*, 2009). Given the evolutionary conservation of insulins and IRs across species, it is possible that this domain will serve the same function in insects.

The next domain of interest is the juxtamembrane domain (JMD). This domain is not well conserved in the OnInR except for an NPEY motif. This motif is a major site of phosphorylation and couples the activated HIR to downstream signal transduction molecules (Sattar *et al.*, 2007). Phosphorylation of the tyrosine in this motif has also been implicated in ligand-induced receptor internalization (Fernandez *et al.*, 1995). Endocytosis of the IR is stimulated by insulin and the receptor is internalized by pinching off of coated pits from the cell membrane that form coated vesicles (Backer *et al.*, 1992). The coated pit-mediated endocytosis of many cell surface receptors relies on structural features in their cytoplasmic domains. Deletions and mutations in the cytoplasmic juxtamembrane region of the receptor prevent receptor internalization. These mutations include the residues NPEY (Backer *et al.*, 1992). Through regulating the number of IRs expressed on the cell surface and by facilitating the intracellular decomposition of insulin, stimulation of the internalization of the insulin receptor plays a key role in the biological action of the hormone (Carpentier *et al.*, 1992).Recent evidence indicates that the presence of intact HIR JMD is necessary for insulin-stimulated Shc—an Src homology 2 (SH2)-domain containing protein—phosphorylation but not crucial for IRS-1 phosphorylation. Insulin signaling can also take place independent of the JMD of HIR and its NPEY motif. The mechanism is Shc independent and is dependent on insulin concentration. It was also shown that insulin internalization does not absolutely require the specific sequence of the HIR JM domain, which can be partially replaced by the JMD of a similar tyrosine kinase (Sattar *et al.*, 2007). Although experiments in *Drosophila* indicate that the function of this domain could be conserved in insects (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 1995), it is not yet know if *O. nigriventris* has IRS-1 or Shc-like molecules.

The predicted TK domain is the most conserved region of the OnInR. The first feature of note is the potential ATP-binding site (GXGXXG<sup>1010</sup> and Lysine<sup>2012</sup>; Hanks *et al.*, 1988). Human insulin receptors mutated at this site are able to be processed into subunits and bind insulin but lack protein tyrosine kinase activity and fail to transduce the signal (Chou *et al.*, 1987). Two other conserved motifs indicative of a protein kinase, <sup>1154</sup>D-F-G<sup>1156</sup> and <sup>1181</sup>A-P-E<sup>1183</sup>, are implicated in ATP-binding (the former) and increased catalytic activity due to phosphorylation (the latter) (Hanks *et al.*, 1988). Specific protein tyrosine kinase consensus sequences, <sup>1136</sup>D-L-A-A-R-N<sup>1141</sup> and <sup>1176</sup>P-V-R-W-M-A-P-E<sup>1183</sup>, indicate substrate specificity (Hanks *et al.*, 1988). The activation loop which extends from K<sup>1151</sup> to L<sup>1174</sup>, contains three conserved tyrosines at positions 1162, 1166, and 1167. These tyrosines become autophosphorylated when the HIR is activated and cause the receptor to undergo a conformational change which allows ATP and other substrates to bind to the active sites. Due to the conservation of these key features, it seems likely that the activation of the OnInR follows a similar mechanism as that of its invertebrate and
mammalian counterparts. The evolutionary relationships revealed by phylogenetic analysis suggest that growth and metabolic functions of the insulin receptor may also be conserved.

## **Expression of OnInR**

The insulin signaling pathway has been suggested as a mechanism for modulating the amount of horn growth in scarab beetles in response to nutrition (Emlen *et al.*, 2006, 2007). It has already been determined that beetle horn growth depends heavily on nutrition during the larval stages. In order to determine the likelihood of this pathway's involvement in horn and trait growth, we investigated the distribution of OnInR mRNA in *O. nigriventris* imaginal discs during the late prepupal period, which is the period of maximum trait growth. OnInR mRNA was found in all imaginal discs from males and females both large and small. This result was not unexpected since during the larval stages of *Drosophila*, prominent expression of DIR mRNA is observed in the imaginal discs (Garofalo and Rosen, 1988). Later it was determined that DIR affects the size of body parts autonomously (Brogiolo *et al.*, 2001). Over the years, genetic manipulation of insulin signaling pathway components within specific imaginal discs in *Drosophila* has been shown to affect the final sizes of those traits by affecting the rate of cell proliferation (Goberdhan and Wilson, 2002; Kramer *et al.*, 2003; Puig *et al.*, 2003; Shingleton *et al.*, 2005)

Emlen *et al.* (2006) predicted that if the insulin pathway was involved in differential horn growth, then horn discs in large males would be sensitive to circulating insulin signals while horn discs in small males and females would not be. They predicted that in small males and females cell proliferation in the horn disc would be uncoupled from circulating insulin signals. Quantitative real-time PCR data (Emlen *et al.*, 2006) showed that by the end of the period of horn growth in O. nigriventris, relative OnInR expression was significantly lower in large males with horn growth than in small males and females that did not grow a horn. Also this data indicated that mRNA expression levels between small males and females were essentially the same (Emlen et al., 2006). Although this may seem counterintuitive, it is not unlike the situation that occurs when a physiological mechanism arrests overall growth in animals under starvation conditions (Kramer et al., 2003; Puig and Tijan, 2006). This mechanism is the feedback mechanism discussed in the introduction. High nutrient availability leads to insulin secretion which activates the insulin receptor and the eventual phosphorylation and inactivation of dFOXO. When nutrient levels decline, insulin levels and signaling will decrease and dFOXO becomes active again and moves into the nucleus where it activates transcription of growth inhibitory genes and other targets including the insulin receptor (Kramer et al., 2003; Puig and Tijan, 2006). In a recent study of insulin pathway activity during caste development in Apis mellifera, a similar situation was described (de Azevedo and Hartfelder, 2008). During the fourth instar, queen larvae surpass worker larvae in growth rate and show a steeper sigmoid growth curve (de Azevedo and Hartfelder, 2008). This is also the time that worker larvae are shifted to a modified worker diet (de Azevedo and Hartfelder, 2008). At this time expression of both AmInR-1 and AmInR-2 mRNA declines greatly in queen larvae but not in worker larvae (de Azevedo and Hartfelder, 2008). Considering the differences in morphology of queen bees and worker bees and the fact that it is the queen that must reproduce, it appears that this feedback mechanism may also be active in this species.

In this study, relative quantification of OnInR mRNA levels in horn tissues of small males and large females at the end of imaginal disc growth revealed that there was essentially no difference in expression between them (Figure 10). This confirms the data presented by Emlen *et al.* (2006) at least for small males and large females.

For each insect that has been shown to have an InR, corresponding ILPs have been cloned. For example, ILP3 from *Aedes aegypti* (Brown *et al.*, 2008) has been shown to bind to the MIR. A recent study has provided evidence that insulin signaling plays a role in imaginal disc growth (Koyama *et al.*, 2008). In *Manduca*, insulin overrides the growth inhibiting effect of JH on wing imaginal discs. However, if the insulin receptor is knocked down in imaginal discs, insulin is no longer able to affect the discs' sensitivity to JH (Koyama *et al.*, 2008). Distribution of the OnInR transcript in all imaginal discs during the period of disc growth suggests that insulin signaling will be involved in the mechanism of trait growth particularly that of differential horn growth. However, studies correlating receptor protein expression with transcript expression will be needed in addition to insulin injections or receptor knockdown studies in order to fully test this idea.

## Summary

The results of this study are critical in beginning to understand the function of the insulin signaling pathway in horned scarab beetles and its role in the control of horn growth. Emlen *et al.*, 2006 identified the insulin signaling pathway as one of the candidate pathways for the origin and diversification of scarab beetle horns. The insulin receptor of one of those beetles, *O. nigriventris*, has been identified and localized in the horn imaginal tissue during the period of horn growth in addition to other imaginal tissues. With the insulin receptor identified, molecular techniques can now be used to manipulate it and define its role during scarab development and horn growth. In order to study allometry, activity of the receptor can be measured between traits

64

in an individual, among individuals of a population, and populations that differ in allometry. These results contribute important new information to understanding how phenotypically plastic traits are regulated at the genetic level.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adham, IM, Agoulnik AI. 2004. Insulin-like 3 signaling in testicular descent. *International Journal of Andrology* 27, 257–265.
- Arik AJ, Rasgon JL, Quicke KM, Riehle MA. Manipulating insulin signaling to enhance mosquito reproduction. *BMC Physiology* [Internet] 2009 [cited 2009 December 5]; 9: 15. Available from doi: 10.1186/1472-6793-9-14.
- Arquier N, Géminard C, Bourouis M, Jarretou G, Honegger B, Paix A, Léopold P. 2008. Drosophila ALS regulates growth and metabolism through functional interaction with insulin-like peptides. Cell Metabolism 7:333-338.
- Backer JM, Shoelson SE, Weiss MA, Hna QX, Cheatham RB, Hating E, Cahill DC, White ME. 1992. The insulin receptor juxtamembrane region contains two independent tyrosine/β-turn internalization signals. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 118:831-839.
- Bathgate, RA, Samuel CS, Burazin, TC, Layfield S, Claasz AA, Reytomas IG, Dawson NF, Zhao C, Bond C, Summers RJ, Parry LJ, Wade JD, Tregear GW.(2002). Human relaxin gene 3 (H3) and the equivalent mouse relaxin (M3) gene. Novel members of the relaxin peptide family. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 1148–1157
- Bendtsen JD, Nielsen H, von Heijne G, Brunak S. 2004. Improved prediction of signal peptides: SignalP 3.0. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 340: 783-795.
- Berhanu P, Anderson C, Hickman M, Ciaraldi TP. 1997. Insulin signal transduction by a mutant human insulin receptor lacking the NPEY sequence. Evidence for an alternate mitogenic signaling pathway that is independent of Shc phosphorylation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272: 22884e90.
- Bohni R, Riesgo-Escovar J, Oldham S, Brogiolo W, Stocker H, Andruss BF, Beckingham K, Hafen E. 1999. Autonomous control of cell and organ size by CHICO, a *Drosophila* homolog of vertebrate IRS1-4. *Cell* 97:865-875.
- Brogiolo W, Stocker H, Ikeya T, Rintelen F, Fernandez R, Hafen E. 2001. An evolutionarily conserved function of the *Drosophila* insulin receptor and insulin-like peptides in growth control. *Current Biology* 11:213-221.

- Broughton SJ, Piper MD, Ikeya T, Bass TM, Jacobson J, Driege Y, Martinez P, Hafen E,
  Withers DJ, Leevers SJ, Partridge L. 2005. Longer lifespan, altered metabolism, and
  stress resistance in *Drosophila* from ablation of cells making insulin-like ligands. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A.* 102:3105-3110.
- Brown MR, Clark KD, Gulia M, Zhao Z, Garczyski SF, Crim JW, Suderman RJ, Strand MR. 2008. An insulin-like peptide regulates egg maturation and metabolism in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A.* 104:5716-5721.
- Brown MR, Graf R, Swiderek KM, Fendley D, Stracker TH, Champagne DE, Lea AO. 1998. Identification of a steroidogenic neurohormone in female mosquitoes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 7:3967-3971.
- Carpentier JL, Paccaud J-P, Gorden P, Rutter WJ, Orci L. 1992. Insulin-induced surface redistribution regulates internalization of the insulin receptor and requires its autophosphorylation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A.*89:162-166.
- Chan SJ, Steiner DF. 2000. Insulin through the ages: phylogeny of a growth promoting and metabolic regulatory hormone. *American Zoologist* 40: 213-222.
- Chassin D, Laurent A, Janneau JL, Berger R, Bellet D. 1995. Cloning of a new member of the insulin gene superfamily (INSL4) expressed in human placenta. *Genomics* 29:465–470.
- Chen C, Jack J, Garofalo RS. 1996. The *Drosophila* insulin receptor is required for normal growth. *Endocrinology*, 137:846-856.
- Chistyakova OV. 2008. Signaling pathway of insulin and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) as a potential regulator of lifespan. *Journal of Evolutionary Biochemistry and Physiology* 44:1-11.
- Cho KS, Lee JH, Kim S, Koh H, Lee J, Kim C, Kim J, Chung J. 2001. *Drosophila* phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1 regulates apoptosis and growth via the phosphoinositide 3-kinase-dependent signaling pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.* 98:6144-6149.
- Chou CK, Dull TJ, Russell DS, Gherzi R, Lebwohl D, Ullrich A, Rosen OM. 1987. Human insulin receptors mutated at the ATP-binding site lack protein tyrosine kinase activity and

fail to mediate postreceptor effects of insulin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 262: 1842-1847.

- Claeys I, Simonet G, Poels J, Van Loy T, Vercammen L, De Loof A, Vanden Broeck J. 2002. Insulin-related peptides and their conserved signal transduction pathway. *Peptides* 23:807-816.
- Clancy DJ, Gems D, Harshman LG, Oldham S, Stocker H, Hafen E, Leevers SJ, Partridge L. 2001. Extension of life-span by loss of CHICO, a *Drosophila* insulin receptor substrate protein. *Science* 292:104-106.
- Colombani J, Raisin S, Pantalacci S, Radimerski T, Montagne J, Leopold P. 2003. A nutrient sensor mechanism controls *Drosophila* growth. *Cell* 114:739-749.
- Conklin D, Lofton-Day CE, Haldeman BA, Ching A, Whitmore TE, Lok S, Jaspers S. (1999). Identification of INSL5, a new member of the insulin superfamily. *Genomics* 60, 50–56.
- de Azevedo SV, Hartfelder K. 2008. The insulin signaling pathway in honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) caste development differential expression of insulin-like peptides and insulin receptors in queen and worker larvae. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 54:1064-1071.
- De Meyts P. 2004. Insulin and its receptor: structure, function, and evolution. *Bioessays*. 26:1351-1362.
- Edgar BA. 2006. How flies get their size: genetics meets physiology. Nature Reviews Genetics 7: 907-916.
- Emlen DJ. 1994. Environmental control of horn length dimorphism in the beetle Onthophagus acuminatus (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Proceedings of the Royal Society of London 256:131-136.
- Emlen DJ. 1997. Alternative reproductive tacts and male-dimorphism in the horned beetle *Onthophagus acuminatus* (Coleoptera:Scarabaeidae). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 41:335-341.
- Emlen DJ, Allen CE. 2004. Genotype to phenotype: Physiological control of trait size and scaling in insects. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 43:627-634.

- Emlen DJ, Corley Lavine L, Ewen-Campen B. 2007. On the origin and evolutionary diversification of beetle horns. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* U.S.A.104: S8661-S8668.
- Emlen DJ, Marangelo J, Ball B, Cunningham CW. 2005. Diversity in the weapons of sexual selection: horn evolution in the beetle genus *Onthophagus* (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). *Evolution* 59:1060-1084.
- Emlen DJ, Nijhout HF. 2001. Hormonal control of male horn length dimorphism in the dung beetle Onthophagus taurus (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae): A second critical period of sensitivity to juvenile hormone. Journal of Insect Physiology 47:1045-1054.
- Emlen DJ, Nijhout HF. 1999. Hormonal control of male horn length dimorphism in the dung beetle Onthophagus taurus (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Journal of Insect Physiology 45:45-53.
- Emlen DJ, Szafran Q, Corley LS, Dworkin I. 2006. Insulin signaling and limb-patterning: candidate pathways for the origin and evolutionary diversification of beetle 'horns.' *Heredity* 97:179-191.
- Fernandez-Almonacid R, Rosen OM. 1987. Structure and ligand specificity of the *Drosophila melanogaster* insulin receptor. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 7:2718-2727.
- Fernandez R, Tabarini D, Azpiazu N, Frasch M, Schlessinger J. 1995. The *Drosophila* insulin receptor homolog: a gene essential for embryonic development encodes two receptor isoforms with different signaling potential. *The EMBO Journal* 14:3373-3384.
- Finger C, Escher C, Schneider D. The single transmembrane domains of the human receptor tyrosine kinases encode self-interactions. Science Signaling [Internet] 2009 [cited 2010 February 3]; 2: ra56. Available from doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2000547.
- Flatt T, Min K-J, D'Alterio C, Villa-Cuesta E, Cumbers J, Lehmann R, Jones DL, Tatar M. 2008. Drosophila germ-line modulation of insulin signaling and lifespan. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A.* 105:6368-6373.
- Floyd PD, Li L, Rubakin SS, Sweedler JV, Horn CC, Kupfermann I, Alexeeva VY, Ellis TA, Dembrow NC, Weiss KR, Vilim FS. 1999. Insulin prohormone processing, distribution,

and relationship to metabolism in *Aplysia californica*. *Journal of Neuroscience* 19:7732-7741.

- Gao X, Neufield TP, Pan D. 2000. *Drosophila* PTEN regulates cell growth and proliferation through PI3K-dependent and –independent pathways. *Developmental Biology* 221:404-418.
- Garami A, Zwartkruis FJ, Nobukuni T, Joaquin M, Roccio M, Stocker H, Kozma SC, Hafen E, Bos JL, Thomas G. 2003. Insulin activation of Rheb, a mediator of mTOR/S6K/4E-BP signaling, is inhibited by TSC1 and 2. *Molecular Cell* 11:1457-1466.
- Garofalo RS. 2002. Genetic analysis of insulin signaling in *Drosophila*. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* 13:156-162.
- Garofalo RS, Rosen OM. 1988. Tissue localization of *Drosophila melanogaster* insulin receptor transcripts during development. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 8: 1638-1647.
- Géminard C, Rulifson EJ, Léopold P. 2009. Remote control of insulin secretion by fat cells in *Drosophila. Cell Metabolism* 10:199-207.
- Giannakou ME, Goss M, Junger MA, Hafen E, Leevers SJ, and Partridge L. 2004. Long-lived *Drosophila* with overexpressed dFOXO in adult fat body. *Science* 305:361.
- Giannakou ME, Partridge L. 2007. Role of insulin-like signaling in *Drosophila* lifespan. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 32:180-188.
- Goberdhan DCI, Wilson C. 2002. Insulin receptor-mediated organ overgrowth in *Drosophila* is not restricted by body size. *Development Genes and Evolution* 212: 196-202.
- Goberdhan DC, Wilson C. 2003. The functions of insulin signaling: size isn't everything, even in *Drosophila. Differentiation* 71:375397.
- Graf RS, Neuenschander S, Brown MR, Ackermann U. 1997. Insulin mediated secretion of ecdysteroids from mosquito ovaries and molecular cloning of the insulin receptor homologue from ovaries of blood-fed *Aedes aegypti*. *Insect Molecular Biology* 6:151-163.

- Hamano K, Awaji M, Usuki H. 2005. cDNA structure of an insulin-related peptide in the Pacific oyster and seasonal changes in the gene expression. *Journal of Endocrinology* 187:55-67.
- Hanks SK, Quinn AM, Hunter T. 1988. The protein tyrosine kinase family: conserved features and deduced phylogeny of the catalytic domains. *Science* 241: 42-52.
- Harvey KF, Mattila J, Sofer A, Bennett FC, Ramsey MR, Ellisen LW, Puig O, Hariharan IK. 2008. FOXO-regulated transcription restricts overgrowth of *Tsc* mutant organs. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 180:691-696.
- Hetru C, Li KW, Bulet P, Lagueux M, Hoffmann JA. 1991. Isolation and structural characterization of an insulin-related molecule, a predominant neuropeptide from *Locusta migratoria*. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 201:495-499.
- Hietakangas V, Cohen SM. 2009. Regulation of tissue growth through nutrient sensing. *Annual Review of Genetics* 43: 389-419.
- Hongo Y. 2003. Appraising behaviour during male-male interaction in the Japanese horned beetle *Trypoxylus dichotomus septentrionalis* (Kono). *Behaviour* 140:501-517.
- Hoyne PA, Elleman TC, Adams TE, Richards KM, Ward CW. 2000. Properties of an insulin receptor with an IGF-1 receptor loop exchange in the cysteine-rich region. *FEBS Letters*, 469: 57-60.
- Huang H, Potter CJ, Tao W, Li DM, Brogiolo W, Hafen E, Sun H, Xu T. 1999. PTEN affects cell size, cell proliferation and apoptosis during Drosophila eye development. *Development* 126: 5365-5372.
- Hudson P, Haley J, John M, Cronk M, Crawford R, Haralambidis J, Tregear G, Shine J, Niall H. (1983). Structure of a genomic clone encoding biologically active human relaxin. *Nature* 301:628–631.
- Hudson P, John M, Crawford R, Haralambidis J, Scanlon D, Gorman J, Tregear G, Shine J, Niall H. (1984). Relaxin gene expression in human ovaries and the predicted structure of a human preprorelaxin by analysis of cDNA clones. *The EMBO Journal* 3:2333–2339.

- Hunt J, Simmons LW. 1997. Patterns of fluctuating asymmetry in beetle horns: An experimental examination of the honest signaling hypothesis. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 41:109-114.
- Hunt J, Simmons LW. 2000. Maternal and paternal effects on offspring phenotype in the dung beetle *Onthophagus taurus*. *Evolution* 54:936-941.
- Hwangbo DS, Gershman B, Tu MP, Palmer M, Tatar M. 2004. *Drosophila* dFOXO controls lifespan and regulates insulin signaling in the brain and fat body. *Nature* 429: 562-566.
- Iguchi Y. 1998. Horn dimorphism of *Allomyrina dichotoma septentrionalis* (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) affected by larval nutrition. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America* 91:845-847.
- Ikeya T, Galic M, Belawat P, Nairz K, Hafen E. 2002. Nutrient-dependent expression of insulinlike peptides from neuroendocrine cells in the CNS contributes to growth regulation *in Drosophila. Current Biology* 12:1293-1300.
- Iser WB, Gami MS, Wolkow CA. 2007. Insulin signaling in *Caenorhabditis elegans* regulates both endocrine-like and cell-autonomous outputs. *Developmental Biology* 303:434-447.
- Iwani M, Furuya I, Kataoka H. 1996. Bombyxin-related peptides: cDNA structure and expression in the brain of the hornworm *Agrius convolvuli*. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 26:25-32.
- Jones MA, Gargano JW, Rhodenizer D, Martin I, Bhandari P, Grotewiel M. 2009. A forward genetic screen in *Drosophila* implicates insulin signaling in age-related locomotor impairment. *Experimental Gerontology* 44:532-540.
- Junger MA, Rintelen F, Stocker H, Wasserman JD, Vegh M, Radimerski T, Greenberg ME, and Hafen E. The *Drosophila* forkhead transcription factor FOXO mediates the reduction in cell number associated with reduced insulin signaling. *Journal of Biology* [Internet] 2003 [cited 2010 January 5]; 2:20. Available from doi:10.1186/1475-4924-2-20.
- Kaplan, DD, Zimmermann G, Suhama K, Meyer T, Scott MP. 2008. A nucleostemin family GTPase, NS3, acts in serotonergic neurons to regulate insulin signaling and control body size. *Genes & Development* 22: 1877-1893.

- Karino K, Seki N, Chiba M. 2004. Larval nutritional environment determines adult size in Japanese horned beetles *Allomyrina Dichotoma*. *Ecological Research* 19:663-668.
- Kimura KD, Tissenbaum HA, Liu Y, Ruvkun G. 1997. *daf-2*, an insulin receptor-like gene that regulates longevity and diapauses in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Science* 277:942-946.
- Kramer JM, Davidge JT, Lockyer JM, Staveley BE. Expression of *Drosophila* FOXO regulates growth and can phenocopy starvation. *BMC Developmental Biology* [Internet] 2003 [cited 2009 December 10]; 3:5. Available from doi:10.1186/1471-213X-3-5.
- Kramer JM, Slade JD, Staveley BE. 2008. *foxo* is required for resistance to amino acid starvation in *Drosophila*. *Genome* 51:668-672.
- Krieger MJ, Jahan N, Riehle MA, Cao C, Brown MR. 2004. Molecular characterization of insulin-like peptides and their expression in the African malaria mosquito, *Anopheles* gambiae. Insect Molecular Biology 13:305-315.
- Kromer-Metzger E, Lagueux M. 1994. Expression of the gene encoding an insulin-related peptide in *Locusta* (Insecta, Orthoptera). Evidence for the alternative promoter usage. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 221:427-434.
- Kondo H, Ino M, Suzuki A, Ishizaki H, Iwami M. 1996. Multiple gene copies for bombyxin, an insulin-related peptide of the silkmoth *Bombyx mori*: structural signs for gene rearrangement and duplication responsible for generation of multiple molecular forms of bombyxin. *Journal of Molecular Bioscience* 259:926-937.
- Lachance PE, Miron M, Raught B, Sonenberg N, Lasko P. 2002. Phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E is critical for growth. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 22: 1656-1663.
- Lagueux M. Lwoff L, Meister M, Goltzene F, Hoffmann JA. 1990. cDNAs from the neurosecretory cells of brains of *Locusta migratoria* (Insecta, Orthoptera) encoding a novel member of the superfamily of insulins. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 187:249-254.
- Larkin MA, Blackshields G, Brown NP, Chenna R, McGettigan PA, McWilliam H, Valentin F, Wallace IM, Wilm A, Lopez R, Thompson JD, Gibson TJ, Higgins DG. 2007. Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. *Bioinformatics* 23:2947-2948.

- Layalle S, Arquier N, Leopold P. 2008. The TOR pathway couples nutrition and developmental timing in Drosophila. *Developmental Cell*15:568-577.
- Lee K, Kwon O, Lee JH, Kwon K, Min K, Jung S, Kim A, You K, Tatar M, Yu K. 2008. *Drosophila* short neuropeptide F signaling regulates growth by ERK-mediated insulin signaling. *Nature Cell Biology* 10: 468-475.
- Lee K, Hong S, Kim A, Ju S, Kwon O, Yu K. 2009. Processed short neuropeptide F regulates growth through the ERK-insulin pathway in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *FEBS Letters*, 583: 2573-2577.
- Leevers SJ. 2001. Growth control: Invertebrate insulin surprises! *Current Biology*, 11: R209-R212.
- Li B, Predel R, Neupert S, Hauser F, Tanaka Y, Cazzamali G, Williamson M, Arakane Y, Verleyen P, Schoofs L, Schachtner J, Grimmelikhuijzen CJP, Park Y. 2008. Genomics, transcriptomics, and peptidomics of neuropeptides and protein hormones in the red flour beetle *Tribolium castaneum*. *Genome Research* 18: 113-122.
- Libina N, Berman JR, Kenyon C. 2003. Tissue specific activities of *C. elegans* DAF-16 in the regulation of lifespan. *Cell* 115: 489-502.
- Lok, S, Johnston DS, Conklin D, Lofton-Day CE, Adams RL, Jelmberg AC, Whitmore TE, Schrader S, Griswold MD, Jaspers SR. (2000). Identification of INSL6, a new member of the insulin family that is expressed in the testis of the human and rat. *Biology of Reproduction* 62:1593–1599.
- Miron M, Verdu J, Lachance PE, Birnbaum MJ, Lasko PF, Sonenberg N. 2001. The translational inhibitor 4E-BP is an effector of PI(3)K/Akt signaling and cell growth in *Drosophila*. *Nature Cell Biology* 3: 596-601.
- Mirth C, Truman JW, Riddiford LM. 2005. The role of the prothoracic gland in determining critical weight for metamorphosis in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Current Biology*, 15: 1796-1807.

- Moczek, 2009. On the origins of novelty and diversity in development and evolution: a case study on beetle horns. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology* [Internet] 2009. [cited 2010 January 18]. Available from doi:10.1101/sqb.2009.74.010.
- Moczek AP, Emlen DJ. 1999. Proximate determination of male horn dimorphism in the beetle Onthophagus taurus (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 12: 27-37.
- Moczek AP, Emlen DJ. 2000. Male horn dimorphism in the scarab beetle, Onthophagus taurus: Do alternative reproductive tactics favour alternative phenotypes? *Animal Behaviour*, 59:459-466.
- Moczek AP, Nagy LM. 2005. Diverse developmental mechanisms contribute to different levels of diversity in horned beetles. *Evolution and Development*, 7:175-185.
- Moczek AP, Nijhout HF 2002. Developmental mechanisms of threshold evolution in a polyphenic beetle. *Evolution & Development* 4: 252-264
- Moroz LL, Edwards JR, Puthanveettil SV, Kohn AB, Ha T, Heyland A, Knudsen B, Sahni A, Yu F, Liu L, Jezzini S, Lovell P, Iannucculli W, Chen M, Nguyen T, Sheng H, Shaw R, Kalachikov S, Panchin YV, Farmerie W, Russo JJ, Ju J, Kandel ER. 2006. Neuronal transcriptome of *Aplysia*: neuronal compartments and circuitry. *Cell* 127: 1453-1467.
- Morris JZ, Tissenbaum HA, Ruvkun G. 1996. A phosphatidyl-3-OH kinase family member regulating longevity and diapauses in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature* 382: 536-539.
- Mulhern TD, Booker GW, Cosgrove L. 1998. A third fibronectin-type-III domain in the insulinfamily receptors. Trends in Biochemical Sciences 23:465-466.
- Nagata K, Maruyama K, Kojima K, Yamamoto M, Tanaka M, Kataoka H, Nagasawa H, Isogai A, Ishizaki H, Suzuki A. 1999. Prothoracicotropic activity of SBRPs, the insulin-like peptides of the saturniid silkworm *Samia cynthia ricini*. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 266:575-578.
- Nielsen H, Engelbrecht J, Brunak S, von Heijne G. 1997. Identification of prokaryotic and eukaryotic signal peptides and prediction of their cleavage sites. *Protein Engineering* 10: 1-6.

- Nijout HF. 2008. Size matters (but so does time), and it's ok to be different. *Developmental Cell* 15: 491-492.
- Nijhout HF, Smith WA, Schachar I, Subramanian S, Tobler A, Grunert LW, 2007. The control of growth and differentiation of the wing imaginal disks of *Manduca sexta*. *Developmental Biology* 302: 569–576.
- Nijhout HF, Davidowitz G, Roff DA. 2006. A quantitative analysis of the mechanism that controls body size in *Manduca sexta*. *Journal of Biology* 5:1-16.
- Nijhout HF, Grunert LW. 2003. Bombyxin is a growth factor for wing imaginal discs in Lepidoptera. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.* 99: 15446-15450.
- Oldham S, Stocker H, Laffargue M, Wittwer F, Wymann M, Hafen E. 2002. The *Drosophila* insulin;IGF receptor controls growth and size by modulating PrdInsP3 levels. *Development* 129; 4103-4109.
- Oldham S, Montagne J, Radimerski T, Thomas G, Hafen E. 2000. Genetic and biochemical characterization of dTOR, the *Drosophila* homolog of the target of rapamycin. *Genes & Development* 14: 2689-2694.
- Panowski SH, Dillin A. 2009. Signals of youth: endocrine regulation of aging in *Caenorhabditis* elegans. Trends in Endocinology and Metabolism 20: 259-264.
- Petruzzelli L, Herrera R, Arenas-Garcia R, Fernandez R., Birnbaum MJ, Rosen OM. 1986. Isolation of a *Drosophila* genomic sequence homologous to the kinase domain of the human insulin receptor and detection of the phosphorylated *Drosophila* receptor with an anti-peptide antibody. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.* 83: 4710-4714.
- Pierce SB, Costa M, Wisotzkey R, S. Devadhar, S. A. Homburger, *et al.* 2001. Regulation of DAF-2 receptor signaling by human insulin and ins-1, a member of the unusually large and diverse C. elegans insulin gene family. *Genes & Development* 15: 672-686.
- Potter CJ, Pedraza LG, Huang H, Xu T. 2003. The tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) pathway and mechanism of size control. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 31: 584-586.

- Potter CJ, Huang H, Xu T. 2001. *Drosophila Tsc1* functions with *Tsc2* to antagonize insulin signaling in regulating cell growth, cell proliferation, and organ size. *Cell* 105: 357-368.
- Puig O, Tjian T. 2006. Nutrient availability and growth: regulation of insulin signaling by dFOXO1/FOXO1. *Cell Cycle* 5: 503-505.
- Puig O, Marr MT, Ruhf ML, Tjian R. 2003. Control of cell number by *Drosophila* FOXO: Downstream and feedback regulation of the insulin receptor pathway. *Genes & Development* 17: 2006-2020.
- Putnam NH, Srivastava M, Hellsten U, Dirks B, Chapman J, Salamov A, Terry A, Shapiro H, Lindquist E, Kapitonov VV, Jurka J, Genikhovich G, Grigoriev IV, Lucas SM, Steele RE, Finnerty JR, Technau U, Martindale MQ, Rokhsar DS. 2007. Sea anemone genome reveals ancestral eumetazoan gene repertoire and genomic organization. *Science* 317: 86-94.
- Radimerski T, Montagne J, Rintelen F, Stocker H, van der Kaay J, Downes CP, Hafen E, Thomas G. 2002. dS6K-regulated cell growth is dPKB/dPI(3)K-independent, but requires dPDK1. *Nature Cell Biology* 4: 251-255.
- Rendell M. 2008. Insulin: Moments in History. Drug Development Research 69: 95-100.
- Rentería ME, Gandhi NS, Vinuesa P, Helmerhorst E, Mancera RL. 2008. A comparative structural bioinformatics analysis of the insulin receptor family ectodomain based on phylogenetic information. *PLoS ONE* [Internet] 2008 [cited 2010 February 15]; 3:e3667. Available from doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003667.
- Riehle MA, Brown MR. 1999. Insulin stimulates ecdysteriod production through a conserved signaling cascade in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti*. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 29: 855-860.
- Riehle MA, Brown MR 2002. Insulin receptor expression during development and a reproductive cycle in the ovary of the mosquito *Aedes aegypti*. *Cell and Tissue Research*. 308: 409-420.
- Riehle MA, Brown MR. 2003. Molecular analysis of the serine/threonine kinase Akt and its expression in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti*. *Insect Molecular Biology* 12:225-232.

- Riehle MA, Garczynski SF, Crim JW, Hill CA, Brown MR. 2002. Neuropeptides and peptide hormones in *Anopheles gambiae*. *Science* 298: 172-175.
- Riehle MA, Yongliang F, Cao C, Brown MR. 2006. Molecular characterization of insulin-like peptides in the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*: Expression, cellular localization, and phylogeny. *Peptides* 27: 2547-2560.
- Riehle MA, Brown JM. 2007. Characterization of phosphatase and tensin homolog expression in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti*: six splice variants with developmental and tissue specificity. *Insect Molecular Biology* 16: 277-286.
- Rintelen F, Stocker H, Thomas G, Hafen E. 2001. PDK1 regulates growth through Akt and S6K in *Drosophila*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.* 98: 15020-15025.
- Rosenfeld L. 2002. Insulin: discovery and controversy. *Clinical Chemistry* 48: 2270-2288.
- Roovers E, Vincent ME, van Kesteren E, Geraerts WPM, Planta RJ, Vreugdenhil E, van Heerikhuizen H. 1995. Characterization of a putative molluscan insulin-related peptide receptor. *Gene* 162:181-188.
- Roy SG, Hansen IA, Raikhel AS. 2007. Effect of insulin and 20-hydroxyecdysone in the fat body of the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti. Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 37: 1317-1326.
- Rozen S, Skaletsky HJ. 2000. Primer3 on the WWW for general users and for biologist programmers. In: Krawetz S, Misener S (eds) *Bioinformatics Methods and Protocols: Methods in Molecular Biology*. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp 365-386.
- Ruan Y, Chen C, Cao Y, Garofalo RS. 1995. The *Drosophila* insulin receptor contains a novel carboxyl-terminal extension likely to play an important role in signal transduction. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270: 4236-4243.
- Rulifson EJ, Kim SK, Nusse R. 2002. Ablation of insulin-producing neurons in flies: growth and diabetic phenotypes. *Science* 296: 1118-1120.
- Sattar AA, Berhanu C, Gebreselassie S, Berhanu P. 2007. Human insulin receptor juxtamembrane domain independent insulin signaling. *Cell Biology International* 31: 815-824.

Saucedo LJ, Gao X, Chiarelli DA, Li L, Pan D, Edgar BA. 2003. Rheb promotes cell growth as a component of the insulin/TOR signaling network. *Nature Cell Biology* 5:566-571.

Schmelzle T, Hall MN. 2000. TOR, a central controller of cell growth. Cell 103: 253-262.

- Sevala VM, Sevala VL, Loughton BG. 1993. Insulin-like molecules in the beetle *Tenebrio* molitor. Cell Tissues Research 273:71-77.
- Shafiei M, Moczek AP, Nijhout HF 2001. Food availability controls onset of metamorphosis in the dung beetle Onthophagus taurus (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Physiological Entomology 26: 173-180
- Shingleton AW, Mirth CK, Bates PW. 2008. Developmental model of static allometry in holometabolous insects. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 275: 1878-1885.
- Shingleton AW, Das J, Vinicius L, Stern DL. The termporal requirements for insulin signaling during development in *Drosophila*. *PLoS Biology* [Internet] 2005 [cited 2009, December 5]; 3:1607. Available from doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0030289.
- Skorokhod A, Gamulin V, Gundacker D, Kavsan V, Muller IM, Muller WEG. 1999. Origin of insulin-receptor-like tyrosine kinases in marine sponges. *The Biological Bulletin* 197:198-206.
- Smit AB, van Kesteren RE, Wi KW, Van Minnen J, Spijker S, Van Heerikhuizen H, Geraerts WPM. 1998. Towards an understanding the role of insulin in the brain: lessons from insulin-related signaling systems in the invertebrate brain. *Progress in Neurobiology*. 54: 35-54.
- Steel CG, Vafopoulou X. 1997. Ecdysteroidogenic action of *Bombyx* prothoracicotropic hormone and bombyxin on the prothoracic glands of *Rhodnius prolixus* in vitro. *Journal* of Insect Physiology 43: 651-656.
- Stern DL, Emlen DJ. 1999. The developmental basis for allometry in insects. *Development* 126: 1091-1101.
- Stieper BC, Kupershtok M, Driscoll MV, Shingleton AW. 2008. Imaginal discs regulate developmental timing in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Developmental Biology* 321: 18-26.

- Stocker H, Radimerski T, Schindelholz B, Wittwer F, Belawat P, Daram P, Breuer S, Thomas G, Hafen E. 2003. Rheb is an essential regulator of S6K in controlling cell growth in *Drosophila. Nature Cell Biology* 5:559-571.
- Taguchi A, White MF. 2008. Insulin-like signaling, nutrient homeostasis, and life span. *Annual Review of Physiology* 70: 191-212.
- Takahashi Y, Kadowaki H, Momomura K, Fukushima Y, Orban T, Okai T, Taketani Y, Akanuma Y, Yazaki Y, Kadowaki T. 1997. A homozygous kinase-defective mutation in the insulin receptor gene in a patient with leprechaunism. *Diabetologia* 40: 412-420.
- Tapon N, Ito N, Dickson BJ, Treisman JE, Hariharan IK. 2001. The *Drosophila* tuberous sclerosis complex gene homologs restrict cell growth and cell proliferation. *Cell* 105: 345-355.
- Tatar M, Kopelman A, Epstein D, Tu MP, Yin CM, Garofalo RS. 2001. A mutant *Drosophila* insulin receptor homolog that extends life-span and impairs neuroendocrine function. *Science* 292: 107-110.
- Teller JK, Rosiński G, Pilc L, Kasprzyk A, Lesicki A. 1983. The presence of insulin-like hormone in heads and midguts of *Tenebrio molitor* L. (Coleoptera) larvae. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 74:463-465.
- Tu MP, Yin CM, Tatar M. 2002. Impaired ovarian ecdysone synthesis of *Drosophila melanogaster* insulin receptor mutants. *Aging Cell* 4: 158-160.
- Tu MP, Tatar M. 2003. Juvenile diet restrictions and the aging and reproduction of adult *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Aging Cell* 2: 327-333.
- Vanden Broeck J. 2001. Neuropeptides and their precursors in the fruitfly, *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Peptides* 22:241-254.
- Verdu J, Buratovich MA, Wilder EL, Birnhaum MJ. 1999. Cell-autonomous regulation of cell and organ growth in *Drosophila* by Akt/PKB. *Nature Cell Biology* 1: 500-506.

- Walkiewicz MA, Stern M. Increased insulin/insulin growth factor signaling advances the onset of metamorphosis in *Drosophila*. *PLoS One* [Internet] 2009 [cited 2009 November 6]; 4:e5072. Available from doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005072.
- Watanabe T, Nakagawa T, Ikemizu J, Nagahama M, Murakami K, Nakayama K. 1992. Sequence requirements for precursor cleavage within the constitutive secretory pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 267: 8270-8274.
- Weinkove D, Leevers SJ. 2000. The genetic control of organ growth: Insights from *Drosophila*. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 10:75-80.
- Weinkove D, Neufeld TP, Twardzik T, Waterfield MD, Levers SJ. 1999. Regulation of imaginal disc cell size, cell number, and organ size by Drosophila class IA phosphoinositide 3-kinase and its adaptor. *Current Biology* 9: 1019-1029.
- Weinkove D, Leevers SJ, MacDougal LK, Waterfield MD. 1997. p60 is an adaptor for the *Drosophila* phosphoinositde 3-kinase, Dp110. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272: 14606-14610.
- Werz C, Köhler K, Hafen E, Stocker H. The *Drosophila* SH2B family adaptor lnk acts in parallel to chico in the insulin signaling pathway. *PLoS Genetics* [Internet] 2009 [Cited 2009 December 8]; 5:e1000596. Available from doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000596.
- Wessell RJ, Fitzgerald E, Cypser JR, Tatar M, Bodmer R. 2004. Insulin regulation of heart function in aging fruit flies. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 36: 1275-1281.
- West-Eberhard MJ. 2003. Developmental Plasticity and Evolution. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Wheeler DE, Buck N, Evans JD. 2006. Expression of the insulin pathway genes during the period of caste determination in the honey bee, *Apis mellifera*. *Insect Molecular Biology*. 15: 597-602.
- Wolff S, Dillin A. The trifecta of aging in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. 2006. *Experimental Gerontology* 41: 894-903.

- Wolkow CA, Munoz MJ, Riddle DL, Ruvkun G. 2002. Insulin receptor substrate and p55 orthologous adaptor proteins function in the *Caenorhabditis elegans* daf-2/insulin-like signaling pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277: 49591-49597.
- Wu Q, Brown MR. 2006. Signaling and Function of Insulin-like Peptides in Insects. Annual Review of Entomology 51:1-24.
- Yamaguchi T, Fernandez R, Roth RA. 1995. Comparison of the signaling abilities of the Drosophila and human insulin receptors in mammalian cells. Biochemistry 34: 4962-4968.
- Yenush L, Fernandez R, Myers Jr. MG, Grammer TC, Sun XJ, Blenis J, Pierce JS, Schlessinger J, White MF. 1996. The *Drosophila* insulin receptor activates multiple signaling pathways but requires IRS-proteins for DNA synthesis. *Molecular Cell Biology* 16: 2509-2517.
- Yoshida I, Moto K, Sakurai S, Iwami M. 1998. A novel member of the bombyxin gene family: structure and expression of bombyxin G1 gene, an insulin-related peptide gene of the silkmoth *Bombyx mori*. *Development Genes and Evolution* 208:407-410.
- Yoshida I, Tsuzuki S, Abdel Salam SE, Ino M, Korayem AM, Sakurai S, Iwami M. 1997.Bombyxin F1 gene: structure and expression of a new bombyxin family gene that forms a pair with bombyxin B10 gene. *Zoological Science* 14:615-622.
- Zhang H, Liu J, Li CR, Momen B, Kohanski RA, Pick L. 2009. Deletion of *Drosophila* insulinlike peptides causes growth defects and metabolic abnormalities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A.* 106: 19617-19622.
- Zhang Y, Gao X, Saucedo LJ, Ru B, Edgar BA, Pan D. 2003. Rheb is a direct target of the tuberous sclerosis tumour suppressor proteins. *Nature Cell Biology* 5: 578-581.
- Zhang H, Stallock JP, Ng JC, Reinhard C, Neufeld TP. 2000. Regulation of cellular growth by the *Drosophila* target of rapamycin *dTOR*. *Genes & Development* 14: 2712-2724.

APPENDIX A

	X	GXXVXRRACX	XLLLXAVAAX	LLXAXAXTY	4GX-X2	X	GVCXSMDIF	RNXPX
	10	20	30	40	÷ 50	+ 60	70	+ 80
PGISLLLF3	-HASKSICO ILLANTLA M MLEV	GLADTGRLCS IQAVVLPAHQ GTGGRRGAAA C	+ WLLVAWVVFG QHLLHNDIAD APLLVAVAAL M RLGWPAVACA	FYCNLPVTH GLDKTALSVS LLGAAGHLYI ALSGQNMHNI LLIACARTY/	AGYIT  SGTQTRWPRSI PG LG AGTEV	EYNGFTPYNKT ESNPTMRLSQN 	TSGICKSVDIE NVKPCKSMDIE EVCPGMDIE VCGSVDVE ARGVCPSMDLE	RNSGE RNMVS RNNLT RNSPA RNNPD
HXXRLEXCF	RVIEGFLQ	ILLXDKAXPS	XFENXSFPKL	XEITXYLLLY	YRVNGLXSLG	XLFPNLAVIRO	SXQ-LFXXYAI	LVIFE
	90	100	110	120	130	140	150	+ 160
MFENLRGCF HFNQLENCT RLHELENCS HLDRLKDCV QIRRLEGCF	RVVEGYIQ TVIEGFLL SVIEGHLQ VVVEGFVH RVIEGQLS	ILLFDHENKS IDLINDASP- ILLMFKTRPE ILLIDKYIDS IVLMERATNK	TFENISFPEL LNRSFPKL DFRDLSFPKL SFENYSFPLL IFDNMSFPQL	REITGHLLLY TEVTDYIIIY IMITDYLLLH TEITEYLLLH REVTGYILIY	YRVNGLTSLGI YRVTGLHSLSI FRVYGLESLKI FRVNGLKSLRI YKTKGLRNLGI	KLFPNLAVIRG KIFPNLSVIRG DLFPNLTVIRG RLFPNLAVIRG DLFPNLPVVRG	GQQPLLLGYAI GNK-LFDGYAI GSR-LFFNYAI GDA-LVGDYAN GMQ-LFKDFAI	LIIFE LVVYS LVIFE MVIYE LVIFD
XXHI FFI GI	YSLMDIT	RGGVRIEKNP	KLCYANTIDW	SRIXXXE	DAEIVXRSNXI	KENECPXCPX>	(XX-X-X>	хкххс
	-+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
	170	+ 180	+ 190	200	210	220	230	+ 240
MPSLQEIGI NFDLMDLGI MVHLKELGI LMHIEEIGI NEHLEALGI	170 LYSLTDIMI HKLRSITI YNLMNITI ISLMDITI	180 NGGIRIDKNP RGGVRIEKNH RGSVRIEKNN RGGVRIEKNP RGGVRIEKNP	190 + QLCFANTINW KLCYDRTIDW ELCYLATIDW KLCFANTIDW RLCYTNTIDW	200 + NRIMHKKNKI LEILAEN-ES SRILDSV-EI KAMTVP( SRITRDI	210 DAELFIRSSKI SQLVVLTENGI DNHIVLNKDDI GTNNYIKDNQI DAEIIVRSNYI	220 220 KENECPMCPRN KEKECSLSKCF NEECGDICPGT KDNVCPICPAE DTRLCGLCPN/	230 DN PGEIRIEEGHE TAKC STAVMLPNGS AQSRVEEDE	240 G DNTAI GKTNC SKQKC HRQSL
MPSLQEIGI NFDLMDLGI MVHLKELGI LMHIEEIGI NEHLEALGI PAXPX	170 -+ LYSLTDIMI HKLRSITI YNLMNITI ISLMDITI NSLMKIEI	180 NGGIRIDKNP RGGVRIEKNH RGSVRIEKNN RGGVRIEKNP RGGVRIQHND	190 + QLCFANTINW KLCYDRTIDW ELCYLATIDW KLCFANTIDW RLCYTNTIDW CPSXCXS-GC	200 NRIMHKKNKI LEILAEN-ES SRILDSV-EI KAMTVPC SRITRDI XDEGTCCNSI	210 DAELFIRSSKI SQLVVLTENGI DNHIVLNKDDI GTNNYIKDNQI DAEIIVRSNYI	220 KENECPMCPRN KEKECSLSKCF NEECGDICPGT KDNVCPICPAE DTRLCGLCPN/	230 DN PGEIRIEEGHE TAKC STAVMLPNGS AQSRVEEDH RNFSFDX>	240 G DNTAI GKTNC SKQKC HRQSL X-XCX
	PGISLLLF: PGISLLLF: 	10 MASKSICO PGISLLLFILLANTLA MLEVI HXXRLEXCRVIEGFLQ HXXRLEXCRVIEGFLQ 90 	10 20 MASKSICGLADTGRLCS PGISLLLFILLANTLAIQAVVLPAHQ MGTGGRRGAAA MLEVRRGVMRRACD HXXRLEXCRVIEGFLQILLXDKAXPS 	10 20 30 MASKSICGLADTGRLCSWLLVAWVVFG PGISLLLFILLANTLAIQAVVLPAHQQHLLHNDIAD MGTGGRRGAAAAPLLVAVAAL MLEVRRGVMRRACDRLGWPAVACA HXXRLEXCRVIEGFLQILLXDKAXPSXFENXSFPKL 	10 20 30 40 MASKSICGLADTGRLCSWLLVAWVVFGFYCNLPVTH/ PGISLLLFILLANTLAIQAVVLPAHQQHLLHNDIADGLDKTALSV MGTGGRRGAAAAPLLVAVAALLLGAAGHLY MGTGGRRGAAAAPLLVAVAALLLGAAGHLY MLEVRRGVMRRACDRLGWPAVACALLIACARTY/ HXXRLEXCRVIEGFLQILLXDKAXPSXFENXSFPKLXEITXYLLLY 90 100 110 120 	10       20       30       40       50	10       20       30       40       50       60        MASKSICGLADTGRLCSWLLVAWVVFGFYCNLPVTHAGYITEYNGFTPYNKT         PGISLLLFILLANTLAIQAVVLPAHQQHLLHNDIADGLDKTALSVSGTQTRWPRSESNPTMRLSQN        MGTGGRRGAAAAPLLVAVVAALLLGAAGHLYPG	10203040506070MASKSICGLADTGRLCSWLLVAWVVFGFYCNLPVTHAGYITEYNGFTPYNKTSGICKSVDIIPGISLLLFILLANTLAIQAVVLPAHQQHLLHNDIADGLDKTALSVSGTQTRWPRSESNPTMRLSQNVKPCKSMDIIMGTGGRRGAAAAPLLVAVAALLLGAAGHLYPGEVCPGMDIIMGTGGRRGAAAAPLLVAVAALLLGAAGHLYPGEVCPGMDIIMEVRGVMRRACDRLGWPAVACALLIACARTYAGTEVVPARGVCPSMDLIHXXRLEXCRVIEGFLQILLXDKAXPSXFENXSFPKLXEITXYLLLYRVNGLXSLGXLFPNLAVIRGXQ-LFXXYAI90100110120130140150

Majority	XXCPPGXYK	XX-RRCVTR	XECIXXXKPI>	KNSXXXXXXXF	-XXXNGSCXX	PCX			
		330	340	350	360	370	380	390	400
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	DKCPEGLFK DSCPKGYYC ETCPPPYYH AKCPPNTFK ESCPGGTYE	YLDRRCVTR CFD-SRCVTA FQDWRCVNF YH-TRCVTR LS-RRCVTE	EECINSPKHIE NECITLTKFET SFCQDLHHKCH DECYAMKKPIS QECRSMSPPPO	-+ EYTTSKQEYEF FNSVYSG KNSRRQGCHQY SLDSNPDLPDC QPVGAADSTYF	+ FK /	-+ -TFNNTSCVY -IPYNGQCIT -VIHNNKCIP FIPHNGSCLM KTFNSSRCLF	++ KCPPKYTDDPI HCPTGYQKSEI ECPSGYTMNS ECPLDHELITI MCPSGY-MEV(	<pre>-+KACVS KKRMCEI SNLLCTI ELNKTRWCRI GNETNA<sup>-</sup></pre>	+     348       PCP     639       PCL     332       KCS     327       TCQ     356
Majority	G-PCPKVCX	GSEI	DSXEXAXELX	GCTXITGSL	EIXXRXG	XNIVXELEAN	LGXIEEIXGYI	_KVVRSYPL	/SL
		410	420	430	440	450	460	470	+ 480
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	S-RCKKVCF GGKCDKECS G-PCPKVCF G-TCPKRCE PCPRSGC	PGISV S-SGLI HLLEGEK-TI GSNI CVRECLGGKI	NNIETAESLKE DSLERAREFHO DSVTSAQELRO DNIQSAQLLKO DSVATAEQFRO	ECTHITGSJ GCTIITGTEPL GCTVINGSL GCEIIDGSL GCTHIKGKN	IEIEVSG  ITISIKRESG/ IINIRGG IEIQLRSRGG	KNIVPALNAN AHVMDELKYG NNLAAELEAN ENIVKELENF GKTLSLLESA	LNMIEEIDGYI LAAVHKIQSSI LGLIEEISGYI LSSITEIKGYI LGEIREIHGCI	_KIVRSYPL _MVHLTYGLH _KIRRSYAL\ _KVVRSYPLH _QVTRSYPL\	ISL     417       (SL     714       /SL     406       _SL     399       /SL     431
Majority	SFFKKLXXI	HGNP-XEXG	XYSLYVLDNQN	NLQELWDWXX-	TXTIXXGKL	FFHFNPKLCY	SXIKQLXEMS	KKTXFEX	KDV
		490	-+ 500	-+ 510	520	-+ 530	-+ 540	550	+ 560
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	SFFKSLKVI KFFQSLTEI SFFRKLRLI GFLKKLKII MFLKKLRKI	-+EIG EIGNA-FENG ESGDPPMDAD ERGET-LEIG EIGKG-NKVS EIANP-SEDK	-+ KYSFIVLDNQN KYALYVLDNRI NYSFYALDNQN NSSLYVVENQN GEALHIINNEN	-+ NLQNFWDWENF DLDELWGPNQ- NLRQLWDWSKF NLQELFDHN NLELLWDWSTY	+ RTLQINHGKL TVFIRKGGV NLTTTQGKL VTIGEGKL GPIEIIGSC	-+ FFHFNPKLCY FFHFNPKLCV FFHYNPKLCL FFFNNPMLCT YIHSNPKLCY	-+ KLIKQLAEKAN STINQLLPMLA SEIHKMEEVSO DRIKAVKKYNN TQLMPLMNMS	-+ITKFDD ASKPKFFEK GT-KGRQER PGIEIEN YP-KTNFTE	+           WDV         494           SDE         793           NDI         484           ESQ         473           LEV         509

Insulin receptor protein alignment of the L1 and L2 domains and the cysteine-rich region. Abbreviations: *O. nigriventris* insulin receptor (OnInR), *Drosophila* insulin receptor (DIR), human insulin receptor (HIR), *A. aegypti* insulin receptor (AaeInR), *B. mori* insulin receptor (Bom InR).

## APPENDIX B

Majority	AEDSNGDXASCEI	XVLKXSLQSXXS	XSXXLXWXPXX	XX-DXRKLL	GYXIYXXEAP	-YQNVXFFDGI	RDACGXDGWX	/XD
	570	580	<del>+</del> 590	600	‡ 610	620	<del>+</del> 630	+ 640
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	AENSNGDKTACEI GADSNGNRGSCGT ALKTNGDKASCEN LESNNGDRAACSI SQDSNGYQASCLP	KDLIIEIQSKSS AVLNVTLQSVGA ELLKFSYIRTSF TELETSLKSIGS DVLKLSVSELTQ	TSVQLYWVPFN NSASLNVTTK\ DKILLRWEPYW ETAIIQWAPFT IAVVLTWDVYC	IIT-DSRKLLS /EIGEPQKPSN /PP-DFRDLLO /ELSDARMLLO	SYQIYHIEAP NATIVFKDPR GFMLFYKEAP GYVIYYIEAP GYSLYFMAT	-VQNFSIFDS AFIGFVFYHM -YQNVTEFDGG -YANVTFFDGF -EKNVSLYDQF	RDACGGDGWS IDPYGTQLKAV QDACGSNSWTV RDACNTEGWRI RDAC-SDIWKV	+ [QD /TIH- /VD _DD /LDKP
Majority	XXXISNXNXSX	EHAG	>	LTQLKPYTQ	γΑΥΥΥΚΤΥΤΧ	SEXXGA		PGQPS
	650	660	670	680	690	700	710	720
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	-VPIPYDHHNVSK AMIAGKVSSP IDPPLRSNDPKSQ ISDFNMDK IEETRKVNRNAKP	IEAT EKSG NHPG ETTK SHARNKTEVIFN STXVKWSPPXXP	VM\ VI 	LKDLKAYTQ LSNLIPYTN MRGLKPWTQ LTQLKPYTQ ITQLRPYTR	YAFFVKTYTIA YSYYVRTMAIS YAIFVKTLVTI YAYYVKTYTLO YAAYVKTYTTI XXNXDYCXX	AQEKNGGI SSELTNAI SDERRTYGAI SSEGLGGG IQDRKGAG	_SALKYFRTNI ESDVKNFRTNI (SDIIYVQTD) QSKIKYFTTAI QSSIIYFRTLI XPPTFXPKPX	PGQPS PGRPS ATNPS PGTPS PMQPS
	730	 740	+ 750	+ 760	770	+ 780	+ 790	+ 800
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	SPTFLNLRANSSS KVVATAISDS VPLDPISVSNSSS VVRDVEVSVN-KN PPTAVTVELLTPH	SIEVDWSPPKSP KINVTWSYLDNL QIILKWKPPSDP MLTVKWLPPLKM SIFIKWSPPTMP	+ NGNLTHYKVIV MALTRYFIKAK NGNITHYLVFW NGRLKEYEVFJ NGTIILYHVEV	/TLKETQDE /TLKETQDE /ERQAEDSE /ERQAEDSE /ELNADDNEQ /QANSYNRPQI	LEYSNS NNRDYCTI LFELDYCLI LMLRDYCEI ILAGNINYCGI	SCSVRSSQTTI EPLVKAMENDI (GLKLPSRTW )-DKLRDIVPI NPSILANMIKA	PKTSDPAKPTI PATTPTKKI SPPFESEDSQI TPTSAPPPK ASLEEAPETPI	SPPS SDPLA KHNQS SICT EEKIT
Majority	KXGXCXCCEX	PKXXSXXLTXDE	EEXEXXINFEN	IELQNXVYXK	<-x		VNPXPXXS	KTRPS
	810	820	+ 830	+ 840	+ 850	860	+ 870	+ 880
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	KNDTCDCTTD GDCKCVEG -EYEDSAGECCSC ADQCRNYCKA GDVKNGVCACKEE	 MLRESNALANKE SKKTS-SQEYDD PKTDSQILKELE PTSGGSTGTIDV AKPSLRFSTRAE	+AETESRINFEN RKVQAGMEFEN ESSFRKT-FEL TDKENQITFEL EERVDSINFEN	IELQNRVYIKI IALQNFIFVPI IALQNFIFVPI IALQNVVFVPI IELQNQVYRKS	+ R NIRKSKNGSSI R-K N SER	DKSDGAEGAAI	+ VAPPPQPS _DSNAIPNGG/ TSSGTGAEI PLLRDK VNPKIHKS	+ MTLSR ATNPS DPRPS FTRRK EDGTS

Majority	RKRRXXXXXXXXXXTEXXFPXXNXSNXSDDEXYYXXXXXELXVXXTTFVISNLRHFTX								x
		+ 890	900	910	920	930	-+ 940	950	+ 960
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	KKRQ RRRRDVALE RKRRSLGDV RSTN KVKRSVDHS	+ PELDDVEGS\	·+ /LLRHVRSITE GNVTVA\ LLFPN LNSMLVH	-+MFPS DDTDAFFEKDE /PTVAAFP NNTENKKNDTT KLTENNSPRPC	-+NDSN 5HNDSN DENTYKDEED NTSS FDRRTE GLNYSN	-+ VSDSYVGNKT LSSNKQFYEVI TSVPTSPEEHI KVKDEPYYQY ITDDEGYVKSI	-+ YVATYIVTGTK FAKELPPNQTH RPFEKVVNKES IFNATNETSIT LYYELDGSTRT	+ KFYITNLQHHT IFVFEKLRHFT GLVISGLRHFT FPLSYFNHYS FLTVKNMRHFT	+ S 802 R 1157 G 817 L 790 W 866
Majority	YXIXXQACR	XXXPXEXX->	FEXXCS	SVXAYXXFRT>	KKXKADDIV	SNXXVEIEXA	NXTXXTVSV	K-XPLNPNGX	Ĩ
		+ 970	980	990	1000	-+ 1010	-+ 1020	-+ 1030	+ 1040
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	YEISVQACR YAIFVVACR YRIELQACN YVFKIRACR YTVNIWACR	+ KTEPDKGD EEIPSEKL QDTP HPGDPPAPS\ NKDLNETDP\	FQPNCS RDTSFKKSLC EERCS /RLVDVELACC /YAENWCS	GDSTSKEIRTE SDYDTVFQTT SVAAYVSARTE SVAAYVSARTE SVRAYNTFRTE	ESKHDADNIA FKRKKFADIVI PEAKADDIVI PKKEGADDIP ELPNAD-VV	SNISIVSVTE MDLKVDLEHA GPVTHEIFEN PESILIEEQSI SNFQVEIMPA	-+SITISV NNTESPATFSL NVVHLMV NNTQRQIRVQW NKTLPEVNVTV	VK-PPINPNGR GRHQLDPNGE VQ-EPKEPNGL VK-EPSKPNGP VE-PPLNPNGF	+ I 871 I 1235 I 881 V 869 V 941
Majority	VXYEVXYSR	XGDEXV	-LXXCIXXX	OFNQTR-GYLL	KXLSPGNYS	XRVRAXSIAG	XGXXXEAXYVX	VXXXXDEXSX	X
		+ 1050	1060	1070	1080	1090	-+ 1100	1110	+ 1120
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	RHYFIDVSK VTYEVAYKLO VLYEVSYRR VKFVVKYQR VAYNVHYSR	+ SGTPIP QKPDQVE YGDEE VDLESVSS IEDSAQGPD\	ERCIDNQE EKKCIPAAL LHLCVSRKH TDICIRYSS /GLQSCITVDE	-+ DFKNSSYKYTJ DFNQTA-GYLJ IFALER-GCRI SFNQTR-GALI DYEANGHGYVI	-+ IEPLSPGNYT IK-LNEGLYS .RGLSPGNYS .TKLEPGNYS .KTLSPGNYS	-+ IRVQAISDAN FRVRANSIAG VRIRATSLAG IRVMATTIAG VKVTPITVSG/	-+GAFSLF YGDFTEVEHIK NGSWTEPTYFN DGAPSAARYVL AGNVSEEIYVF	+ 2VSVYIDEPSD XVEP-PPSYAK VTDYLDVPSN .IAKDDSMG FIPERVSESGH	+ 942 1308 11 954 17 943 1021

Insulin receptor protein alignment of the Fibronectin type III domains. Abbreviations: *O. nigriventris* insulin receptor (OnInR), *Drosophila* insulin receptor (DIR), human insulin receptor (HIR), *A. aegypti* insulin receptor (AaeInR), *B. mori* insulin receptor (Bom InR).

APPENDIX C

Majority	WXIILGGLXXLFLXVVGXVXYXLRKKRPXXEXXRMXXSVNPEYASXYVPDDWEVXREKIIXLRELGQGSF								
		1130	1140	1150	1160	1170	1180	1190	1200
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	WNIIAG FFWLLG-I AKIIIGPL TLIWLG WAWGVG-A	-IIILVLI GLAFLIVS IFVFLFSV TLIVIFLC GGVVLALL	VVGIIVYILFI LFGYVCYLHKI VIGSIYLFLRI SVGFVAFYWYI VGAAVWYARR(	KRQQEESPRI RKVPSND-LHI (RQPDGPLGPI (YRYMSKQIRI GLMSHAEASKI	INPSINPEYM INTEVNPFYA YASSNPEYL IYPEVNPDYA FASVNPEYV		YVPDDWEIPR YIPDDWEVLR YVPDEWEVSR YKVDDWEVER YVPDEWEVTR	KKIELHKELG ENIIQLAPLG EKITLLRELG NHIIQLEELG DSIHFIRELG	QGSF QGSF QGSF QGSF QGSF QGSF
Majority	GMVYEGIX	XDIXKGKA	ETRCAIKTVN	EXATDRERIX	LNEASVMKA	FDTHHVVRLL	GVVSXGQPTL	VVMELMANGD	LKSY
		1210	1220	1230	1240	1250	1260	1270	1280
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	GMVYEGIV GMVYEGIL GMVYEGNA GMVYKGIL GMVYEGIA	RDIK-GKA KSFPPNGVI RDIIKGEA TQLRGEKCI KEIVKGKP	TIRCAIKTVN DRECAIKTVN ETRVAVKTVN NQPCAIKTVN ETRCAIKTVN	EHATNAERLNI ENATDRERTNI ESASLRERIEI ESATAREKDSI EHATDRERIEI	ELKEASVMKA ELSEASVMKE ELNEASVMKG ELLEASVMKQ ELNEASVMKA	FDTAHVIKLL FDTYHVVRLL FTCHHVVRLL FNTHHVVRLL FDTFHVVRLL	GVVSQGQPTL GVCSRGQPAL GVVSKGQPTL GVVSQGDPTL GVVSRGQPTL	VVMELMANGD VVMELMKKGD VVMELMAHGD VIMELMANGD VVMELMERGD	LKSY LKSY LKSY LKSY LKTY
Majority	LRSHRPDA	EG	-NXPGSPX(	QPPTLXRIXQ	MAIEIADGMA	YLSAKKFVHR	DLAARNCMVA	DDLTVKIGDF	GMTR +
		1290	1300	1310	1320	1330	1340	1350	1360
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	LRLHRPDS LRAHRPEE LRSLRPEA LRRHRPDY LRSMRPDA	DG RDEAMMTY E EN EG	-YTHGIIG( LNRIGVTGNV( -NNPGRP -GEDPSP( -SLPSSPP)	2PPSLRRILQN 2PPTYGRIYQN -PPTLQEMIQN 2PPTLRQIIQN 7PPTLQNILQN	AIEIADGMA AIEIADGMA AAEIADGMA AIEIADGMA AIEIADGMA	YLSAKKFVHR YLAAKKFVHR YLNAKKFVHR YLSAKKFVHR YLSAKKFVHR	DLAARNCMVA DLAARNCMVA DLAARNCMVA DLAARNCMVA DLAARNCMVA	EDLTVKIGDF DDLTVKIGDF HDFTVKIGDF DDMTVKIGDF GDLTVKVGDF	GMTR GMTR GMTR GMTR GMTR GMTR
Majority	DIYETDYY	RKGTKGLL	PVRWMAPESLI	KDGVFSSSSD	/WSYGVVLWE	MATLASQPYQ	GLSNEQVLRY	VIDGGVMERP	ENCP
		1370	1380	1390	1400 <u>1</u> 400	1410	1420	1430	+ 1440
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	DIYETDYY DIYETDYY DIYETDYY DIYETDYY DIYETDYY DIYETDYY	-+ RKGTKGLL RKGGKGLL RKGGKGLL RKGTKGFL RKGTKGLM	+- PVRWMAPESLI PVRWMAPESLI PVRWMAPESLI PVRWMAPESLI PVRWMSPESLI	COURT COURS COURT COURCE COURC	+ [WSYGVVLWE /FSFGVVLWE /WSFGVVLWE /FSYGVVLWE \WSYGVVLWE	+ MATLASQPYQ MATLAAQPYQ ITSLAEQPYQ MATLASQPYQ MATLAMQPYQ	+ GLSNEQVLRY GLSNEQVLRY GLSNEQVLKF GLTNDQVLRY GLSNEQVLRY	+ VIDSGIMERP VIDGGVMERP VMDGGYLDQP VIDGGVMERP VVEGGVMERP	+ ENCP ENCP DNCP ENCP EQCP

Majority	DRLYXLMRRCWQHRPSARPTF-LXIVXXLLPDA-SPQFXEVSFYHSEAGXRAXXREEQ									
	1	L450	1460	1470	1480	1490 .	1500	1510	1520	
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	DKLYHLMRQC DFLHKLMQRC ERVTDLMRMC DNLYNLMRRC DRLYELMRAC	CWKYKYAEF CWHHRSSAF CWQFNPKMF CWQHRPTAF CWTHRPSAF	RPSFXLDLVS RPSF-LDIIA RPTF-LEIVN RPTF-MEIIS RPTF-LQLVA	MLLEDS-SP YLEPQCPNS LLKDDL-HP ELLPDA-SP DLVPHA-MP	QFSRVSFYHS QFKEVSFYHS SFPEVSFFHS HFQDVAFYNS YFRHRSFFHS	AAGM EAGLQH EEN QDA PQGQELYALQ	EARSTRN REKERKERNQ KAPESEE LDMLRGQ RSALDEE	LDAFAAVPLD	H 1296 QDLQ 1694 L 1317 H 1299 Q 1386	
Majority	XMEIQDDAT	KPLR	··		·					
	1	L530	1540	1550	1560	1570	1580	1590	1600	
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	QMIIQDDVMM DREQQEDATT EMEFEDMEN\ QTVIIDEATT ELPEVDVGA\	/PLR /PLRMGDYC /PLD /PLR /ATGS	QQNSSLDQPPI	ESPIAMVDD	QGSHLPFSLP	SGFIASSTPD	GQTVMATAFQ	NIPAAQGDIS	+       1309         ATYV       1774          1330          1312          1400	
Majority	XSGXXDDLXGGPPXEFS-AYTXSXX									
	1	L610	1620	1630	1640	1650	1660	1670	1680	
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	VPDADALDGE	DRGYEIYDF RS F NLFGVSGRL	TKELEEIYP PSPKCAELPT SHCQREEAG GDDHDEEPG ASWVRELSS	LNSCAD SRSGSTGGG GRDGGS EDDDLV LRSRGS	KLSGEQHLLPI	D RKGRQPTIMS S G	SEVEDDLVGS SSMPDDVIGG LGFKRSYEEH HGEGHIGDVG DAAAEPLQPL	PHMEFS-SYP SSLQPSTAFT IPYT TDDEFSMEMT PPPGTSPAPI	KVQK         1349           TSSN         1854           HMNG         1366           NSHL         1353           LAPA         1451	
Majority	XXXNGPXXTL	RXXXXSXX	(XX							
	1	L690	1700	1710						
OnInR protein.pro DIR protein.pro HIR protein.pro AaeInR.pro Bom InR.pro	DTTTGTANGY ASSHTGRPSL GKKNGRILTL VRNNGPMATJ PAIKGPNGVL	/VGTNPSNO _KKTVADS\ _PRSNPS [RSPHSPLF _RDSHSARF	STRA /RNKANFINRI R	+ 1LY					1370 1884 1382 1371 1472	

Insulin receptor protein alignment of the transmembrane, juxtamembrane, and tyrosine kinase domains. Abbreviations: *O. nirgiventris* insulin receptor (OnInR), *Drosophila* insulin receptor (DIR), human insulin receptor (HIR), *A. aegypti* insulin receptor (AaeInR), *B. mori* insulin receptor (Bom InR).

APPENDIX D



Expression of OnInR mRNA relative to 28S in the horn tissues of small males and large females. Standard errors, standard errors of the mean and p values are indicated for each trial. Levels of OnInR in only one comparison were significantly different (B).